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ABSTRACT

Study of the history of the Catholic Church in Kansas City, Missouri from a
geographer’s perspective can illuminate the city as a whole froasargots
perspective. This project combines a chronological series of maps showing the
boundaries of parishes with parish histories and other archival material &b reve
ongoing settlement patterns. Ethnicity is a major topic; secondary foci inabude
the city grew, the character of particular neighborhoods, and the evolving

transportation network.
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I ntroduction

Religion is a useful tool for geographers seeking to analyze how a city
develops and grows. This project explores ways in which the story of Catholics in
Kansas City can illuminate the story of the community as a whole. Thesgoalse
Catholic history to gain insights that otherwise may be ignored or misunderstood. For
example, standard histories may ignore why an ethnic group settled in alpartic
location! Other topics that can be better understood include how the city grew, the
character of particular neighborhoods, and the evolving transportation network.
Besides providing a historical window into the social geography of Kansad Cit
also hope to provide an example of how this type of study can be done for other
cities.

Kansas City was typical of America’s growing cities in the ningteeentury
in that it had a large number of Cathoffc3he first settlers in the region were French
Catholic fur traders. The first substantial Catholic immigrant group in therehe
Irish, arrived in the early 1850s, followed closely by Germans and thealiayn#
around the turn of the century. The 1910s saw the arrival of both Poles and Mexicans
(Dolan 1985, Doering and Marra 1992).

At the local level Catholics organize themselves into units, called parishes,
headed by a priest, who is responsible for their spiritual’cémehe past, most
parishes were assigned based on a geographic region but some were assigned vi
nationality. National parishes included all members of that nationality, regaro

where they lived in the city. They were created to meet the demands of the



immigrants for a pastor who could preach and hear confessions in their native tongue,
as well as to help maintain an ethnic commuhifjhe distinction between territorial
and national parishes sometimes was blurred. For example, in many cdssk the
would come to dominate a parish and it might even be known as an “Irish parish”
even though it was officially a territorial entity. All parishes in a regrengaouped
into a unit called a diocese headed by a bishop.
Information Resour ces

Dioceses maintain archives, and such materials in Kansas City have been
fundamental to my research. A published history even exists (Coleman 1992), that
describes which nationalities were prominent in each parish.

The archives of the Kansas City diocese, located in the chancery complex at
300 East Thirty-sixth Street, are open to anyone by appointment with the drchivis
Father Michael Coleman. No special approval is required for researchtprojée
archives are locked when he is not present. Father Coleman is flexible amadwill f
time to open the archives, subject to his other commitments as a priest and a canon
lawyer. He is also extremely knowledgeable about Catholic history in K@ityas
The archives contain a collection of books that deals with Catholicism in gandral
with Catholicism in Kansas City, contemporary records of diocesan programs and
events, and files on each individual parish. These files include historieswatitize
time of anniversaries, newspaper articles, correspondence, planning,raacthos
financial records. Sacramental records for each parish are on microfilm. A

significant portion of the archival information deals with planning and finances.



Methods and Techniques

In order to understand and analyze the information in the parish histories, |
took a cartographic approach. First, | created a series of maps to depict t
construction of new churches, the closing of others, and evolving parish boundaries.
These maps, showing the spread of the Catholic population of Kansas City, form the
core of the thesi3.Accompanying them is an interpretative narrative covering such
topics as background history of the city including key secular and Catholic events
how the city spread, distribution of ethnicities, economic conditions, and
transportation networks. Information for this came from the maps themselves
supplemented by standard histories, ethnic studies, and Sanborn fire insurance maps.
| include the years from 1822 to 1930. In 1822 the first French settlers arrived in the
region. The year 1930 was chosen because it was a time when immigration began to
slow, the Great Depression halted the growth of the city, and the government began to
collect ethnic data at the level of census tracts. This last fact riedrchurch
records no longer provided the best method to analyze ethnic distribution.

| also created three charts that display the growth of Catholicism ira&ans
City. These charts provide a summary of the periods covered in this project and are a
good tool to understand the periods of rapid growth and periods of inactivity by the

diocese (Figures 1, 2, and 3).



Parishes and Population over Time
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Parish Openings per Year
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This project’s utility is that it provides detailed information—not found in
standard histories and the U. S. Census—on where nationalities gathered in the city.
Prior to 1930 the census only collected national origin data at the ward level, which is
too coarse a measure to indicate neighborhood situations and the nuances of city
growth. Analysis of parish locations and establishment/extinction dates adals usef
insight, although areas of the city lacking Catholic population do not show up well.
Another benefit of this project is that it reveals social history at the grourichkeve
opposed to a top-down rendition that focuses on political and business leaders,
industrial development, and public works. This analysis looks instead at
neighborhoods, families, schools, and churches.

| selected Catholicism as the religion of analysis partly becahsé ibecome
the largest denomination in the United States by 1850. A large number of immigrants
also were Catholic, thereby broadening the scope of the analysis. Findligttiadic
Church’s parish system allows for systematic mapping and study.

| selected Kansas City as a case study partly because of usmprkes
typicality as the “heart of America” and because it is large enough to provide
adequate data for analysis but not too large to force important topics to be
overlooked. Kansas City also makes sense because it was close enough for
convenient field work.

Study Area
The area of study is defined by the city limits of Kansas City in 1930 (Map

41). These limits were defined in 1909 as the Missouri River on the north, Seventy-



seventh street on the south, the Kansas state line on the west and basically the Blue
River on the east These boundaries focus the study on the core settlement of Kansas
City. The state line boundary excludes Kansas City, Kansas, which is part of the
larger metropolitan region today, but developed as a separate entity witmits ow
history and church records.
Literature Sources

Theodore Brown’$rontier Community{1963) Theodore Brown and Lyle
Dorsett’sk. C.(1978),and Rick Montgomery and Shirl KaspeKansas City: An
American Story1999 provided a general understanding of the history and
geography of the regiorDetails on the initial French traders were provided by
Dorothy Marra et al."€her Oncle, Cher Pap@001) Some of the diocesan records
were published in a two-volume work by Colette Doering and Dorothy Marra (1992)
and by Michael Coleman (1992). This work contains a great deal of information on
parish geographies and histories but even more in-depth information is available in
the archives. This includes newspaper articles from both secular andasticials
sources as well as publications celebrating parish events. Gilbert lizarisagook,
Catholic Beginnings in Kansas City, Misso(tB20) covers the activities of the first
priests in the city until 1848. Bernard Donnell$sattered Shee(@001)and
William Dalton’s Pioneer Pries(1921)give additional information on this early
development. Monroe Dodd’s work on streetcars in KansasACBplendid Ride
(2002) provides details on the location, type, and date of construction of the city

lines.



Sanborn maps from the years 1885 and 1906 provide excellent context for the
neighborhoods and the structures located in them. These highly detailed maps
compiled by the Sanborn Fire Insurance Company show the shape and size of
individual structures, their use, and even their construction material. When Sanborn
information is coupled with the parish maps and the ethnic studies of Pat O’Neill
(From the Bottom Up2000]), Sherry Schirme’(City Divided[2002]) and Charles
Coulter (Take up the Black Man’s Burder2006]), one has a solid base for
describing a neighborhood.

Methods

The initial goal was to create a map series showing church locations and
parish boundaries through time. In the diocesan archives, no regularized descriptions
of parish boundaries exist. So, to create the maps, | went chronologically threugh th
records and platted a new map each year a parish was added or the boundaries
changed. For the first several parishes, the records define impreciserimsinda
Some examples include: “east of Main Street,” the “West Bottoms,” the “East
Bottoms,” and the “Westport area.” In these cases, | estimated boundaign®cat
based on my understanding of these terms, the terrain, and the street networks.
Starting in 1886 most new parishes were given precise boundaries based on city
streets. Still, some parishes had no boundaries listed and approximations had to be
made when new boundaries overlapped those previously defined.

The mapping process prompted questions as | filled in the growth of the city,

such as the following. Why did Holy Trinity Parish in the city’s northeadti®enot



extend all the way north to the Missouri River? Which parish filled the gapedre
between Fifteenth and Twenty-seventh streets by the southward movement of
boundaries for St. Vincent Parish in 1890? Why was the northeastern area that
Assumption Parish filled in 1909 devoid of a parish for so long? Why, in 1917, was
St. Elizabeth Parish created so far south (around Seventy-fifth Street)eiftad igap
with no parish and deviated from the established pattern? The answers to these
guestions led to a better understanding of the city. They also reflect éheftyp
analysis that was done throughout the project. |look at events in the city that did not
occur in the manner expected and try to explain what actually happened
geographically.
Organization

Chapter One (1822-1865): This covers the initial settlement and growth of
the region. The first settlers were French fur traders. Soon a small gréwgr of t
families began farming in the bottoms near the rivers. There were two sfghific
Anglo towns close to this French group: Westport to the south and Independence to
the east. The growth of these latter towns, spurred by trade along thevéstilvard,
led to the creation of a new community at the confluence of the Kansas and Missouri
rivers: Kansas City. This chapter describes the French farmermsgs#tdiarea, the
growth of Westport, and the establishment of the Town of Ka&hsasdso detail
changes in the Catholic structure from temporary missionary priestswildeeness
to the start of a permanent community. This period sees the beginning of Irish

immigrants in Kansas City.
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Chapter Two (1866-1885): This period covers the post-Civil War boom and
subsequent growth of the city. The city was nearly abandoned during the war but
afterwards quickly grew to thirty-two thousand residents, mainly becausa of ne
railroad connections offered by a bridge over the Missouri and construction of a
stockyard in the West Bottoms. Irish continued to be the major Catholic group in the
city, but the first national parish, Saints Peter and Paul, was established in 1866 for
Germans. During this period eight new parishes were added to the sindietipatris
had been serving the entire population. One of these, Annunciation, was created in
the West Bottoms for the growing number of laborers in the stockyards, packing
plants, and other industries. This period also saw the first Catholic school and the
first religious order in the city.

By the 1870s new technology such as telephones, waterworks, electric lights,
and streetcar lines helped to bring about a transformation. Cattle and grainngkipme
increased and Union Depot was constructed in the West Bottoms. By 1880 the city
had fifty-five thousand people. That same year Kansas City also becamesedioc
and a cathedral was built on Quality Hill as the bishop’s seat.

Chapter Three (1886-1892): This period saw one of the largest expansions
of the Catholic Church in the city. Nine parishes were added; many waresioime
were German, and one was Italian. Old Irish neighborhoods continued to grow and
new ones appeared on the east side of town and south of Quality Hill. People of all
nationalities were beginning to move beyond the city core, especially the people of

the West Bottoms as industry took over that section of town. Anti-Catholic bigotry

11



increased in this period, partly because of antipathy towards the rising sushber
immigrants in the city.

Chapter Four (1893-1912): These years saw a devastating flood that left
more than fifteen thousand homeless and the effects of an economic depression.
Despite this, the number of Italian immigrants continued to grow. The Kartgas C
Convention Hall was built and then rebuilt after a fire in 1900. The city also began a
beautification project during this time to create parks and boulevards so people would
have open air spaces to enjoy. A Lebanese parish opened in 1893 but after that no
new parishes were added until 1902.

The growth of parishes resumed in the city after 1905 as these were peak
years of immigration. Ten new parishes opened, including another national parish for
Germans. St. Monica opened as a parish for blacks, but the diminished population in
the West Bottoms forced Annunciation Parish to close. Two Catholic high schools
for girls were started during this time. By this time the Catholic Church had
established itself in the United States to the extent that the U. S. was no longer
considered mission territory by the Vatican.

Chapter Five (1913-1930): During the first seven years of this period four
parishes were created including St. Stanislaus, a national parish for receimt Poli
immigrants, and Our Lady of Guadalupe, primarily serving Mexicans. BotldWor
War | and the postwar influenza outbreak had large impacts on local life. The
growing number of Catholics in the city is reflected by the presencgigibus

orders (nine male and twenty-four female) and the opening of the Jesuit Rockhurst

12



College. Parishes significantly larger than one square mile in teweng created in

the southern part of the city, reflecting the increased use of automobiles. dity the
experienced the exuberance of the 1920s four new parishes were added. These new
parishes reflect the continued growth of the suburbs in the southern part of the city.
Growth of the business district downtown finally forced the closing of Saints Pete

and Paul. Immigration was restricted by congressional edict.

! While recognizing that ethnicity and nationalitg aot identical terms, this project uses them
interchangeably. National is the word used indnisal sources to describe the parishes, whileytoda
ethnicity is the preferred term. Those discussetiide French, Irish, German, Italian, Polish,
Lebanese, Mexican and Swedish. Black parishes alsoeestablished and are discussed in a similar
manner as the national parishes.

2 In Jackson County, where Kansas City is locatesltatal number of Catholics was recorded in
federal census records as follows:

1906: 20,000

1916: 33,000

1926: 43,000

% parish comes from a Greek root meaning neighbatigSopher 1967, 65).

* While the liturgy was in Latin until the middle tife twentieth century, other aspects of parigh lif
were in the vernacular.

® | created a new map each year a new church wk®bmoved and each year a new parish was
established or the boundaries changed. Theseadeeed chronologically and located in the first
section of the appendix.

® The name of the community has been, successialysmouth, Town of Kansas, City of Kansas,
and Kansas City.

13



Chapter One

Early Catholic Settlersin Kansas City
1822-1865

The history of settlement in Kansas City and the history of Catholicism in the
region began together with French fur traders. In 1821 Francois Chouteauni@an age
of his family’s St. Louis fur company, started a regional headquarters on the nort
side of the Missouri River, across from the future downtown of Kansas City. A flood
in 1826 destroyed the warehouse and cabins there. The Chouteaus next settled on the
south bank of the Missouri at the foot of either the current Gillis or Harrison.Street
They built a major trading post a few years later a half-mile eakedafurrent Paseo
Bridge. It included a farm, warehouse, and steamboat landing (Marr@@04).

200-202). This post attracted traders, trappers, and employees of the Chouteaus who
settled nearby (Garraghan 1920, 15). This was the first of two distinct French
settlements in the area of the future Kansas City.

The other community, Kawsmouth, consisted of French trappers, along with
their Indian wives and children, who had given up life in the wilderness to farm the
lowland area known today as the West Bottoms (Map 42). Although they lacked a
priest and a stable parish life, these settlers were Catholic aPweelirfg and Marra
1992, 9). They performed their own baptisms and weddings, which was allowed in
such circumstances (Doering and Marra 1992, 16). The vows could be blessed later.
Berenice Chouteau (wife of the trader Francois) performed the first egtbegtism

in the region to dying natives (Doering and Marra 1992, 7).
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In 1828, Father Joseph Anthony Lutz became the first priest to visit
Kawsmouth, staying for the summer (Doering and Marra 1992, 8). The first
permanent priest, Benedict Roux came five years later. He came tegethan the
larger cities of Liberty or Independence, because Kawsmouth had acsignif
Catholic population. Roux also noted that the two larger towns had a definite bias
against Catholicism. This was a period when Mormons were persecuted in
Independence and fear of similar persecution caused the French priesutamgty
on Sundays for a time (Doering and Marra 1992, 9). Roux noted that there were
twelve French families in the area and, if any church were to be built, it would need
the support of the Chouteaus (Brown 1963, 14).

Francois Chouteau, in a letter to his uncle, describes the religious situation in
1833:

At the present we have here a Cure, Mr. Roux who desires to remain in our country. |
believe he is a worthy man. We intend to build a small church for him. All the

French families here are well disposed to supply, according to theiy aliditrenice

assures me she intends to put in a contribution. You, papa, and Cadet, you are able to
judge better than | that the thing cannot be anything but advantageous. Wenwill the
later on certainly have a small group of fine people. The riffraff perhapsnpiiove

as this will be a cause of betterment for the area (quoted in Marr2@0|.123).

Because only the Chouteaus could provide Roux with food and shelter, he
lived with them at their trading post. This created one of the first geographic
problems for the Catholic Church in Kansas City, because Roux needed to perform
his ministry three miles to the west in the West Bottoms where most of thehFren
lived (Doering and Marra 1992, 10). Eventually the Chouteaus rented a building near

the present Second and Cherry streets that served as a temporary(bapetB)

(Doering and Marra 1992, 11).
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The next step in the growth of the Catholic Church in the region was the
acquisition of land. In several letters Roux mentions the importance of having
acreage enough for the priest to cultivate for his own survival. In an 1833 letter to hi
bishop, Roux outlined initial plans for such a purchase:

... [Francois Chouteau] called a meeting of the Catholics of the locality tosliscus
means towards getting a church and supporting a priest. | found everybody well
disposed and ready to make all reasonable sacrifices. It was agreechtdeguthe
priest forty acres of land to serve as a site for church and presbyter, hesidgtsng

a small tract for cultivation (quoted in Garraghan 1920, 46).

Restrictions some of the organizers wished to place on the process temporarily
derailed this plan, however.

In another letter, dated 20 January 1834, Roux describes the process of
selecting a site:

A number of Americans declared to me their desire of co-operating . . . toaselect
piece of land and a site suitable for the object we have in view, which is to build a
church and form two establishments, one of Sisters for the education of the young
ladies of the locality and the other for the boys. ... A committee has been organized
and instead of forty, eighty acres of land have been picked out. They would have
made over the deed of sale to you, Monseigneur, or to myself on the sole condition
that if one or the other of the two establishments should not succeed, the property
would revert to the four designated members of the committee, a condition which |
have not yet approved and shall never approve, for | am far from rendering myself the
slave of any one in a matter of this kind (quoted in Garraghan 1920, 57).

As can be seen, Roux vigorously rejected the idea of taking any property that had
conditions for its return.

In the spring of 1834, Roux paid six dollars to Pierre Laliberte for forty acres
of land on a bluff overlooking the West Bottoms and the confluence of the Missouri

and Kaw rivers (Map 43). Thirty of these acres were sold four years later

(Garraghan 1920, 66-67). No direct indications why this piece of land was selected
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have survived, but the two points that Roux emphasized in his letters were present:
enough land for cultivation and no restrictions on returning the land. In addition, the
price of the land suggests that it was a gift.

Father William Dalton, a Kansas City priest starting in 1872, described the
terrain:
The church was on a bluff looking over the west bottoms and the Missouri and Kaw
Rivers. There was a deep ravine south of the church, running to what is Eleventh
Street, and growing deeper as it neared Broadway, then taking a cotirskigams
the north side of Broadway and making a short turn to Fifth Street. In the rainy
season the ravine was impassable except for a very frail-looking bridgthee
entrance to the church property. This bridge led into the southeast corner of the ten
acres (Dalton 1921, 53).

The location of the church on the periphery, away from the population centers
of Kawsmouth, the levee, and the Chouteaus, forced parishioners to travel a
considerable distance for Mass. At this time, the desire for arable kameédédo
outweigh the need to be close to the people. Roux probably did not imagine the
growth of a city on the riverfront. Instead, he likely envisioned a series of farm
emerging around the land he had acquired. This would later be an issue of contention
between the people and their priest.

A log church, eighteen by thirty feet, was built in 1835 (Donnelly 2001, 10).
It was commonly known as Chouteau's Church, due to the prominence of that family
and their role in its construction. Roux departed before the church was completed,

leaving the community with no permanent priest; occasionally traveling Jesui

missionaries would stop to minister. In 1839 one of these traveling priestangeali
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the church still had no name or patron saint, requested that it be named for St. John
Francis Regis.

Jesuit priest Nicholas Point took up residence at St. Francis Regis in 1841. He
reported twenty-six families in his parish, all in need of religious instructicause
of their rough and informal life style (Map 44). He also noted they had a deefy loyal
to their faith. Point decorated the church with candelabra and religious art and
officiated at the first Forty Hours Devotion held in this dreoint was pleased to
note that the Blessed Sacrament was never left unattended. Point departéd in Apr
1841, again leaving the people reliant on traveling Jesuits for ministry (Doering and
Marra 1992, 15).

In 1845, Father Bernard Donnelly became the resident priest in Independenc
(Figure 4). This was his first assignment after ordination (Doerindv/amch 1992,
29). Donnelly was born in Kilnacreva, County Cavan, Ireland, and spent his
formative years there before leaving for the United States in 1839 (Donnelly 2001, i
v). Donnelly referred to the Catholics in Independence as “cold, carelessvénd fe
(Donnelly 2001, 3), which probably explains why he often traveled to Chouteau’s
Church (Doering and Marra 1992, 29). This is his description of what he first
encountered there: “l found a little congregation of Catholics, strange to me in
language, manners, dress, and personal appearances. Some of them were fair, some

were dusky Indians, some were Negroes, but the majority were pale fddgd sic
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Figure 4: Father Donnelly (Dalton 1921, inside front cover)
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looking half-breeds, whilst all were with a very few exceptions, a pious honest and
hospitable class of people” (Donnelly 2001, 45-46). Besides the French, other groups
had begun to move into the region by Donnelly’s time. The Indian Removal Act of
1830 forced many Indians from the states north of the Ohio River onto lands just west
of the Missouri state line. Methodist and Baptist missions were established in the
region. Other traders arrived to serve both the missionaries and the Indians. For
example, James McGee in 1828 bought land near Chouteau's post and built a mill,
lent money, and contracted to supply the Indians with flour (Brown 1963, 20-21). By
the mid-1830s farmers, Indians, missionaries, and traders populated the region. The
eastern terminus of the Santa Fe Trail had moved west along the MissoutoRiver
Independence (Miller 1983, 38-41). In 1834 John McCoy bought land along this
route and platted the city of Westport. McCoy also built a four-mile road from
Westport north to the Missouri River at a spot adjacent to Chouteau’s post. This site,
known as Westport Landing, developed into a dockage area for unloading
merchandise destined for Westport and the Santa Fe trade. The two Westp®rts w
distinct communities, however, separated by rough forests and only connected by a
single road (Maps 42 and 45). By 1837 there were fifty people living in Westport,
which now included a general store, a tavern, a harness-and-saddle shop, and a school
(Brown 1963, 28-29).

Besides trade with Santa Fe and providing supplies to Indians in the region,
another major impetus for the growth of Westport was the outfitting of immigrants

for travel to Oregon and California in the middle and late 1840s (Brown 1963, 58).
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Because of its superior location Westport had overtaken Independence as the prime
outfitting spot by the end of the decade. By choosing Westport, traders elimhmated t
treacherous fording of the Blue River and reduced overland travel by twiddge m
(Montgomery and Kasper 1999, 28).

In 1838, McCoy and other investors formally purchased the land at Westport
Landing and platted the “Town of Kansas” (Map 43) (Montgomery and Kasper 1999,
28). McCoy later remembered the reasons for this action:

[A] few men with no capital . . . bought the land because it had a good steamboat
landing and was the most suitable starting point for the . . . caravans to New Mexico.
The idea that any one of them would live to see a city built up among those
precipitous hills and impassable gorges . . . never entered into their cafculati

[They] were not disposed to risk much in the experiment, and did very little to push
the town (quoted in Brown 1963, 38).

Legal wrangling among members of the company prevented any real development
until 1846. Lots were sold to the public starting that year and the town grew rapidly
to around five hundred people. It was incorporated in 1850 (Garraghan 1920, 20-21).
Four large warehouses, a variety of mills, several shops, and the Troost House (a
hotel with more than one hundred rooms) all attested to considerable growth by this
year (Figure 5) (Brown 1963, 63).

The first large group of Catholic immigrants to arrive was three hundred
Belgians whom Joseph Guinotte brought in 1852 to settle in what is now called the
East Bottoms (Map 42). This is land east of the city along the south bank of the

Missouri River. Guinotte was Belgian himself and arranged for others taynateni

by providing housing and food, as well as land. Cholera hit the group just as they
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Figure : Drawing showing Kansas City in 1855 (Marra 2001, 182)
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arrived, however, killing half their number. The rest quickly scattered (ipand
Marra 1992, 33).

From the beginning, Donnelly had to deal with complaints that his church
high on the bluff was too remote from riverfront homes. The parishioners wanted a
new church on the levee and the old property sold. Donnelly refused to go along with
the parishioners. He foresaw the growth of the city and wanted to keep then@tati
Eleventh and Broadway to serve this larger entity. In a letter to his droplie
described his geographic vision of the city:

The city is daily growing in population. The limits laid out in the charter are not
extensive enough. The city must grow south as the trade is in that direction, and then
it must develop a residence district which will sooner or later be on the platkeal ca
Westport. Until that time comes the people will choose the northwest section for

their homes. | predict the ten acres and immediate neighborhood will be for years the
most desirable residence part of Kansas City. Where the city is nomeuesisarily

be the business district. . . . and after a short time all our parishioners would have
moved to newer and more desirable neighborhoods. ... The ten acres may yet build
a cathedral and institutions of charity and learning (quoted in Dalton 1921, 52-53).
Being practical as well as visionary, however, the Irish priest alsogauao rent a
building near Second and Cherry closer to parishioners’ homes where Mass would be
offered (Map 43) (Dalton 1921, 54).

In 1853, Donnelly left another lasting mark on the community. As the city
expanded south in the 1840s it encountered steep bluffs. A temporary solution was
"tunnellike passages” excavated through to the south, but these alleys were
inconvenient and often impassable. The city fathers wanted these bluffs removed but

needed cheap labor for the job. Donnelly, who was involved with city-planning

meetings, offered to provide the men. He placed advertisements in New York and
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Boston Catholic newspapers asking for 150 workers from eacf @ieyimprove

working relationships, the advertisements requested that the men be from a single
county in Ireland. The plan worked despite this restriction and created a sudden
spike in the Catholic population of the city. These workers were housed in temporary
one-story buildings on Sixth Street, from Broadway to Bluff Street, artlaaéa

became known as Connaught Town, a reference to the workers’ province of origin
(Doering and Marra 1992, 47-48; Dalton 1921, 48-49).

In another venture around the same time, Donnelly began a small brickyard on
part of the church property. It proved a success, and the profits provided money for a
new church without being dependent on contributions from the congregation. A large
ceremony attended by people of all faiths from the surrounding communities marked
the groundbreaking for this new church in 1857. Called Immaculate Conception, it
measured seventy feet by thirty feet (Doering and Marra 1992, 48-49).

That same year, local historian Theodore Case provided a description of the
town:

The hotel and several warehouses dominated the levee, with a few small retall
shops sandwiched in between the larger buildings. Only one street—Market, which
later became Grand Avenue—was cut through to the levee from the south and could
be used for business locations; on the rest the grades were still too steep, and the
streets oppressively narrow. Smithies, saloons, and a few stores straggted al
Market Street, ending in what seems to have been a little slum inhabitechby s
Irish settlers. South of the crest of the bluffs, more shops and saloons were joined by
residences, in several of which room-and-board was offered. Farther south along
Main Street the quality of the houses improved as one approached the neighborhood
where lived the Northrups, the Ridges, the Campbells and finally the McGéesin t
addition. A deep ravine meandered diagonally across the whole townsite, debouching

in the river near the foot of Market Street. It was bridged only wheressed Main
and Market, and at the latter place the crossing was ramshackle and daniyesus

24



people it seemed carried arms; the memory of the border troubles wasshil{Ntap
43) (quoted in Brown 1963, 138).

At this time Donnelly was still officially the pastor of Independence and not
assigned permanently to Kansas City. He wrote often to his archbishopingl&cat
priest was needed. In 1858, Father Denis Kennedy was offered the job, but because
money was still owed on the church, he declined the position. Donnelly then
suggested that they trade assignments so he would have the church in Kansas City
and Kennedy a debt-free parish in Independence. The archbishop approved this plan
and Donnelly immediately began construction of a parish school (Doering aral Marr
1992, 49).

The Town of Kansas continued to grow until the start of the Civil War,
although the early French influence rapidly disappeared because oésafteiiing in
the face of border violence between proslavery and antislavery factions @al.

2001, 5). During the war itself many additional residents left the city, megltioe
population from six thousand to only a few hundred (Brown 1963, 158; Doering and
Marra 1992, 50). By the end of the war the population had grown back to around
four thousand (Montgomery and Kasper 1999, 96).

In summary, the 1820s through the 1840s saw the initial settlement of the
various communities that came to make up Kansas City: Chouteau’s trading post,
Kawsmouth, Westport, and the Town of Kansas. The first Catholics in the region
were French fur traders followed by a few Belgians and then Irish workéwst of
the growth of the town was provided by other peoples. Donnelly worked hard to

establish the structure of the Catholic Church in Kansas City as seen inrtameer
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church and the construction of a school. The division of the city during the Civil War

put this growth on hold.

! The official location was designated as “SE quasteNE quarter of Sec 6, T 49, R 33.” The ten
acres that remained were later bounded by Broadilayenth and Twelfth streets and a line a
hundred feet west of Jefferson Street (Garragh@0,186-67).

2 During this solemn ritual the faithful adored Gltyipresent in the Blessed Sacrament of the
Eucharist, on the main altar of the church foryfdrburs, the length of time Christ spent in thetbom

% The newspapers were tBeston Pilot(the newspaper of the Boston Archdiocese, alsth irea

Ireland) and-reemans’ Journal of New Yo(Balton 1921, 48,76)

“In the end, the three hundred workers were ndtah the same county but from the same province,
Connaught (Dalton 1921, 49).
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Chapter Two

Postwar Growth
1866-1885

People of all faiths suffered division during the Civil War with parishioners
and clergy supporting each side of the conflict. The Catholic Church did nobsplit
separate congregations but there was still a need for healinghafigat. The town
itself had acquired a major east-west railroad and was ready to resuayad
growth as a gateway city to the central Great Plains. Imnigyfeom Ireland and
Germany provided a large segment of the growing population. Creation of tiwree ne
parishes in the three years after the war demonstrates the growth ofttbkcCat
population in the region.

City History

During the war, competition in the region was between free and slave, Union
and Confederate; after the war competition shifted to economics as thenitiee
Missouri River battled for trade advantages. St. Joseph, Leavenworth, At@nsgon
Kansas City all hoped to become the most prominent city in the region. The key
development was obtaining a railroad bridge across the Missouri River. Katysas C
secured such rights in 1866 when directors of the Hannibal and St. Joseph line
selected Kansas City over Leavenworth (Montgomery and Kasper 1999, 73hI5).
quickly changed the fortunes of the competing cities even before the tiomole
the bridge in 1869. From the end of the war to 1870, the population of Kansas City
jumped from around four thousand to 32,700, while St. Joseph and Leavenworth only

grew from 15,000 to 19,500 and from 15,400 to 17,900, respectively (Montgomery
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and Kasper 1999, 81). Two slaughter plants, for cattle and pigs, opened in 1868
(Montgomery and Kasper 1999, 96).

Once the bridge was complete the pace of transformation increased. Seventy-
thousand travelers per year passed through on the rail line. A Main Stnsetth
$400 in 1856 sold for $11,000 in 1871. Cattle arriving from the southwest on the way
to Chicago packinghouses hinted at coming prosperity (Montgomery and Kasper
1999, 80). In 1871, six railroad companies built a "union” stockyard to handle these
cattle. This occupied thirteen acres in the West Bottoms along the Kameas Ri
(Map 46). Similarly, this group also built Union Depot nearby in 1878 to serve the
rail lines that now branched out to Santa Fe, Denver, Chicago, and the Eaasfi.
Kansas City started to flourish because of cattle and wheat shipfemigomery
and Kasper 1999, 97).

By the late 1870s, the bustling atmosphere of the West Bottoms had produced
a citywide reputation as a lawless town. In 1878, a local newspaperdédteiras a
“modern Sodom.” Writing at the time, journalist Charles Gleed described the
inhabitants as follows:
The population of the city included as fine a collection of ruffian brotherhood and
sisterhood of the wild West as could be imagined. Renegade Indians, demoralized
soldiers, unreformed bushwhackers, and border ruffians, thieves and thugsdmporte
from anywhere, professional train robbers of home growth, and all kinds of wrecks
from the Civil War (Map 47) (quoted in Montgomery and Kasper 1999, 85).

On the blufftops above the West Bottoms, civic leaders and important

businessmen established a cluster of upper-class homes known as Quataplill

48) (Brown and Dorsett 1978, 42). This same hill contained the ten acres Roux
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purchased for a church in 1834 and that Donnelly refused to sell despite the demands
of his parishioners. Donnelly’s vision of a city moving south, away from the river,
was coming true.

Old Town, the original settlement along the river, remained the city core
throughout the 1870s. It contained the central business district focused at Market
Square, the corner of Main and Fifth. East Kansas, just east of Old Town, was a
working-class neighborhood with violence, poverty, and vice that exceeded even that
of the West Bottoms (Map 48). During the first half of the 1870s, one-third of the
police force patrolled the saloons, brothels, and gambling houses of this relatively
small section of the city. During the second half of the decade the citgezhan
tactics, removing the police and reaching agreements with criminal $g@&tewn
and Dorsett 1978, 45-46).

A vastly different neighborhood was McGee’s Addition, south of Twelfth and
east of Main. It was middle class and reporters considered it a boring assignm
German businessmen were concentrated here and lived alongside a mixtste of Iri
blacks and other Americans (Brown and Dorsett 1978, 46)

By 1880, fifty-six thousand people inhabited the city. Rapid growth
continued over the next ten years as seventy thousand more were added (Montgomery
and Kasper 1999, 121). By 1882, the city had a telephone exchange, electric
streetlights, and seven grain elevators. Electricity powered thitiees ®n Main

Street (Montgomery and Kasper 1999, 118, 132, 140).
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To transport the growing population the first trolley line was established in
1870. Lightweight passenger cars drawn by mules and horses ran from Market
Square up the hill on Walnut Street, then south on Grand Avenue to “the middle of a
thriving commercial and residential subdivision called McGee’s Addition” (Dodd
2002, 15). By 1871, this line extended on to Westport, four miles south of downtown
(Montgomery and Kasper 1999, 124). By the next year, a new line opened, running
from the eastern edge of the city into the center of downtown. The lines now totaled
thirteen miles (Dodd 2002, 27). During the rest of the decade, workers also laid
tracks along Broadway and Southwest Boulevard and to the new Union Depot in the
West Bottoms. In 1885, a cable car system opened from Woodland Avenue at the
eastern city limits along Eighth Street to Quality Hill and then deBng the steep
incline to Union Depot. By the end of the year, fifteen thousand people rode this line

each day (Map 49) (Dodd 2002, 47, 54).

The Church and the People

The Catholic Church entered this period with just Donnelly’s parish,
Immaculate Conception, at the top of the hill. After the war, Donnelly resumed
building the Catholic community, mainly Irish and German at this time. Iniaddi
1866 saw three important events in the growth of Catholicism in the city. $he fir
was the arrival of five sisters of the order of St. Joseph of Carondelet whoebEam
first religious community in Kansas City and founded St. Teresa's Acaldergyls

at the old parish school at Twelfth and Washington. The second and third events
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were the establishments of a church in Westport and a German national parish
(Doering and Marra 1992, 55-56).

Table 1: Parishes established 1847-1885

Parish Year Comments Location

Immaculate Conception| 1847 Original ™and Broadway/

Sts. Peter and Paul 1866 German National9™ and McGee
Parish

Our Lady of Good 1866 Westport 39Terrace and

Counsel Washington

St. Patrick 1868 Mostly Irish "Band Cherry

Annunciation 1872 Mostly Irish (in | 14" and Wyoming
West Bottoms)

St. Francis Seraph 1877 Irish initially, thenMontgall and

also Belgian and | Heim
others (in East

Bottoms)
St. John the Baptist 1882 Mostly Irish S'and Lydia
St. Joseph 1882 Mostly Irish, 19" and Harrison
southeast of
downtown
Source: Coleman 1992
German

Around one and a half million Germans immigrated to America before the
Civil War. Between 1860 and the end of the century three and a half million more
arrived. The peak was the 1880s with one and a half million German arrivals. Dolan
(1985, 130) estimates that around one-third of the total number were Catholic. Many
were fleeing religious persecution and economic depression caused by
overpopulatior!. Most of the immigrants were middle-class people from Bavaria,
Baden, and Wurttemberg and arrived as family groups (Dolan 1985, 130; Shaw 1987,

280). By 1860, Germans had established a significant presence in Kansas City. One
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of the three newspapers in the city was German language, and one of the three

companies of the local Union volunteer reserve battalion was German (QZ0OR9|,

26, 29). Most Germans lived in McGee’s Addition, south of Twelfth and east of

Main (Map 48). It, like they, was solidly middle class (Brown and Dorsett 1978, 46).
The Germans who came to Kansas City encountered the established Irish

church of Donnelly (Immaculate Conception) but obviously preferred sermons and

confession in their own language. Occasionally a German priest would visit

Immaculate Conception from the nearby communities of Germantown (nator(li

or Weston. Other cultural differences contributed to dissatisfaction withighe

parish. One was the German tradition of running parishes via a trustee system. Thi

was a democratic system in which certain members of the parish weyagibép for

the whole and even had a say in the selection of the pastor (Doering and Marra 1992,

63). Another difference was the emphasis placed on parochial schools. Throughout

the Midwest Germans placed a high priority on schools, with more than 65 percent of

German parishes establishing schools within two years as compared to 27.5 percent

for Irish parishes (Shaw 1987, 306). German Catholics in the United States also

relied heavily on the parish as a social center with more devotional socities, |

insurance organizations, music societies, and military groups than the Trsh.

attitude may have been the result of Catholicism being a minority religiongam

Germans. German Catholics, both in their native land and in America, saw threats t

their religion from outsiders and therefore placed greater importance onimamta

parish community (Doering and Marra 1992, 63; Dolan 1975, 167-168).
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The Germans’ desire for a parish experience different from that offered at
Immaculate Conception led to a push for a national parish. Such a unit would be for
all Germans in the city regardless of location. It would have a pastor who spoke
German and a school that taught in German (Doering and Marra 1992, 65). In 1866,
in response to a petition, Archbishop Peter Kenrick assigned a permamerarG
priest to Kansas City, Father Herman Grosse. For the next two yearked out
of Immaculate Conception until the basement of a new church was finished. This
building, Sts. Peter and Paul, was erected at Cherokee (now 9th) and Mc€&tsestre
the edge of McGee’s Addition where most Germans lived (Map 1) (Coleman 1992,
272).

The desire for maintaining a distinct German Catholic community was
demonstrated further in 1877 by the establishment of a German Catholiegemet
"out in the country" near 25th and BrookyrThis desire is also seen in the 285
students enrolled at the parish school in 1882 (diocesan archives for Sts. Peter and
Paul Parish).

Irish

The Catholics in Kansas City at the end of the war, in addition to Germans,
consisted of a few remaining French farmers and a growing grouplobttigbutable
to the influence of Donnelly. Besides placing the previously mentioned adisfor |
workers, he also wrote letters encouraging other of his countrymen to@ome t
America. In one, he wrote: "Fate is as relentlessly cruel to Iralamglits brutish

oppressor. Don't go to Heaven as a martyr—come to America, andyatneliie go
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to God as a saint" (quoted in O’Neill 2000, 22). Before Donnelly’s importation of
Irish workers in the 1840s, sacramental records show most Catholics irytiveret
French or Indian. However, in 1857 fifteen of thirty-three babies baptizedisiad |
names. The next year seventy-five out of a hundred and five names were Irish
(O’Neill 2000, 16-17).

Irish continued to settle in the boarding houses and shanties of Connaught
Town (O’Neill 2000, 16-17). Another neighborhood, called "Stringtown," grew up
between Fourth and Seventh streets around Delaware, Wyandotte, and Wedtsit st
(O’Neill 2000, 25). Besides laboring to remove the bluffs many Irish waséetn
builders, brickmakers, carpenters, peddlers, tinsmiths and stone masons,’ngccordi
to the city directory (O’Neill 2000, 26). During the Civil War when many
Southerners fled the city, Irish rose to prominent positions. In 1864 samhn,
Patrick Shannon, was named interim mayor. The next year he wasl étestgve a
full term (O’Neill 2000, 33). By 1870, nine percent of the city, approximately three
thousand people, were Irish-born and up to a third were of Irish descent. Irish
constituted twenty percent of unskilled laborers, performing such actistiesang
streets, digging basements and stacking bricks. The location of these jabs bega
shifting to the West Bottoms as it industrialized after 1880 and so many laborers
moved there (O’Neill 2000, 51). At the same time, some Irish began to gain enough
social standing and wealth to move to nicer neighborhoods. The first such
concentration, known as Irish Hill, emerged about 1880, south of Quality Hill around

Fifteenth and Summit (Map 50) (O’Neill 2000, 74).

34



St. Patrick: In 1868, the parish of St. Patrick was established. Immaculate
Conception was full and the poorer Irish neighborhoods in East Kansas were a long
way to walk for Mass (Map 2) (O’Neill 2000, 25). With the creation of this paris
Catholics in the city were now divided territorially as well as nationally. -Non
Germans living east of Main Street went to St. Patrick, while those westiof M
Street attended Immaculate Conception (Map 3). Even though the parish was a
territorial entity and not national, the two hundred families making up the initial
complement were almost entirely Irish. St. Patrick was an active&hpaflmost
exclusively Irish, the parish was abuzz with societies holding meeplags)ing
fairs, picnics and celebrations” (Doering and Marra 1992, 82).

For the first three months, parishioners met at the church of Sts. Peter and
Paul. In the next four years, as the number of families attending grevlysipdans
and preliminary work for the construction of a large church on the southwest corner
of Seventh and Oak began. A great deal of excavation was needed for the basement,
which was intended as the first meeting place since parishioners wele tonatbord
the superstructure because of the high cost of stonework. However, concerns about
the ability of these basement walls to support the intended church superstructure soon
led to the parish starting anew at the corner of Eighth and Cherry (Coleman 1992,
259).

The dearth of construction work in the city during the 1860s prevented
parishioners from earning enough to hire professional church builders. Instead, since

many members were construction workers, they devoted their own time ans talent
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the work: "They swung picks and used shovels to excavate the foundationjdhey la
stone and brick to raise the walls” (Doering and Marra 1992, 69). The chasch w
finished in 1881.

The construction of St. Patrick prompted many Irish to move to that area of
town (O’Neill 2000, 57). One section of the parish was the old East Kansas, now
more commonly known as the North End, between the Missouri River and Fifth
Street. This area is described as containing “working-class homes arfdmilylti
rowhouses.” On&ansas City Stawriter compared this village-like enclave to the
countryside of Ireland (O’Neill 2000, 58). By 1880, the parish had grown to two
thousand individuals (four hundred families). During the 1880s, however, expansion
of downtown forced families out of the parish’s western sector and by the end of the
decade membership had declined (Coleman 1992, 260).

Annunciation: The disorderly West Bottoms of the 1870s differed markedly
from the Irish countryside, from which many of its inhabitants emigratecpérter
for Kansas CityTimesfound it to be: "a district without churches or schools, rough
and primitive in its social aspects, made largely of day laborers andgmities
struggling twelve and fourteen hours a day for a meager livelihood” (quoted in
O’Neill 2000, 53). Along with Irish, there also lived Germans, Jews, Indsents,

French (O’Neill 2000, 54).

In 1872, the growing population in the bottoms required a new parish. Father

William Dalton, the son of Irish immigrants, was appointed pastor and itesdrta

found Annunciation Parish where it would not interfere with those already elstablis
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in the city. In an empty storefront on Twelfth Street between Wyoming anesée
Streets, with about sixty people present, he celebrated the parish’s fstiMaune
1872. The next month, the parish purchased two lots in a cornfield on the southeast
corner of Fourteenth and Wyoming (Maps 4 and 5). Although some complained the
site was too remote, within a month a frame church (thirty by forty Wheses
completed. In 1880, a brick church serving 520 families was completed (gkty-e
by one hundred thirty feet). Rapid growth into 1882 brought the total to 1,200
families (from an original twenty-five) making this the largestgram Missouri.
This was the peak population of Annunciation, however, as the expanding stockyards
and railroads began to purchase much of the land in the bottoms. In addition, a flood
in 1882 contributed to the decline (Coleman 1992, 109-110).

St. John the Baptist: Few records exist for this parish that was established in
1882. At its inception, it was another predominantly Irish parish, taking it®terr
from St. Patrick to serve the east side. Mass was initially held in th&&#sms, at
First and Lydia. A more permanent church was started later that year on
Independence Avenue (Maps 8 and 9) (Coleman 1992, 233)

St. Joseph: This is another largely Irish parish with limited records. In 1882,
it was established southeast of what was becoming downtown Kansas City, in what
were then suburbs. In 1883, the basement of the church was completed on the
northwest corner of f8and Harrison (Maps 8 and 9) (Coleman 1992, 239).

I mmaculate Conception: Donnelly continued to serve the Irish and other

church members living between the West Bottoms and Main Street from thrabrigi
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parish. He lived just long enough to see his town grow into an episcopaheityegt

of a bishop.) Previously Kansas City was part of the St. Louis diocese. NowsKansa
City and the surrounding countryside was its own administrative unit under the
leadership of Bishop John Hogan. Donnelly gave his remaining money to the diocese
and lived under the care of the Sisters of St. Joseph until his death in Decémbe

1880 (Doering and Marra 1992, 78).

Each diocese designates a church as a cathedral (from thedtaiara
meaning chair) which serves as home for the bishop and the location of hiageachi
chair. Appropriately for Kansas City this honor went to Immaculate Conceptidn, a
the cornerstone for the cathedral was laid at Eleventh and Broadway ih882.
Reflecting the languages spoken by most Catholics present, one serman was i
English, one in German (Coleman 1992, 125).

Bishop Hogan moved from a position in St. Joseph to take up the challenge of
the Kansas City diocese. It contained 23,539 square miles, stretching from the
Missouri River south to the Arkansas state line and east to central Mis®ditinin
ten years Bishop Hogan saw the Catholic population of Kansas City double.
According to a church historian: “He was under constant pressure to estegish
parishes, build churches, schools, convents, and to help the poor. His task was
complicated by the fact that many incoming Catholics did not speak Eaglish

needed special attention” (Doering and Marra 1992, 82).
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Other Groups

St. Francis Seraph: Belgians settling in the East Bottoms introduced still
another language and culture to Kansas City. This was a different group than the one
recruited by Joseph Guinotte in the 1850s, but may have been attracted to Kansas
City by knowledge of the earlier venture. They arrived in the early asdlerpart of
the 1880s and established truck farms. The parish of St. Francis Seraghtalati
1877, became even more diverse with this addition. Its congregation was a mix of
English, German, Belgian, French, and Polish people (Doering and W29, 83).
No details exist for the church until 1887 when land was purchased for a building
between Montgall and North Chestnut streets facing Heim Avenue. The new church
was described as a poor frame structure thirty by sixty feet (Maps 6 andl@ngd
1992, 221). St. Francis Seraph was the first parish to have detailed bouhdaries.

Westport Church: In 1866, Donnelly purchased land at what is now Thirty-
ninth Terrace and Washington Street in Westport and built a double log cabin churc
(Map 1). Donnelly, as well as Jesuit missionaries, celebrated Masddahéne
limited Catholic population of Westport, which was still a separate comynfuoit
the city on the river. Reflecting the lack of attention given this church, it had no
name until 1889, when it was titled Our Lady of Good Counsel (Doering and Marra
1992, 55-56).

No priest was assigned permanently to Our Lady of Good Counsel during its
first two decades. Assistant priests residing in other parishes o8arethy Mass

there on occasion and the church building was not maintained well. After 1874, in
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fact, it was unoccupied for several years because officials had deemed Westpor
remote from Kansas City. The small interest in supporting a parish therat@sdac
minimal Catholic presence in Westport. In 1876, priests of the Redemptorist order
preached a mission to the people of Kansas City. Father Donnelly was ird@aedse
the next year invited the order to establish a monastery near Westporbgdinw
Boulevard and Broadway), thus becoming the first permanent male religiousnorder
the region. The Westport location for the monastery was selected in order to be away
from the urban areas but still on the main road connecting Westport to Kansas City.
The Redemptorist priests opened their chapel to the public for Mass. In adulition t
the monastery, a preparatory college was constructed at the same locatien for t
order’s novitiates (Maps 6 and 7) (Coleman 1992, 183).

Analysis

In this section | analyze several geographic relationships that occuried du
the postwar ethno-religious growth of the city. First is the location of e Iri
neighborhoods and the route of a parade that helps to verify those locations. Second
is an analysis of a link between the location of churches and streetcar lines, and the
third concerns the circumstances surrounding placement of churches.

A Parade and Irish Neighborhoods: As described earlier, Irish in the city
concentrated in certain districts or neighborhoods. Map 50 shows these
neighborhoods and the year their existence is first recorded. These dates should not
be taken literally as founding years, rather when they are firsionedtin diocesan

records and city histories. From these we can see the initial settlenfendreirs in
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Connaught Town. Many Irish then moved eastwards. Although Irish neighborhoods
are generally close to a Catholic church, they are not always imelgdidjacent as
one might have suspected. The map raises the question of who attended St. John the
Baptist and St. Joseph. Their histories state that they were Irish parigheswb
true is this? There were no known Irish neighborhoods in their vicinities during this
time. A popular Irish society was the Ancient Order of Hibernians. In 1873, this
group organized a large St. Patrick’s Day celebration, including a paradby th@86
had five thousand marchers (Doering and Marra 1992, 89). Map 50 also shows this
parade route for 1885. One section of the parade route corresponds exactly with the
southern boundary given for one of the neighborhoods, Twelfth Street. This helps
establish the reliability of that boundary. Although no dominant Irish neighborhoods
are south of this section of the parade route some Irish probably lived in the middle-
class neighborhood of McGee’s Addition.

Streetcarsand Churches: One of the reasons planners may choose a
particular location for a church is the availability of public transportatioth®
people. Is there any indication of a connection between streetcar lines haticCat
churches in early Kansas City? Map 49 shows the lines constructed between 1870
and 1885 with the color key indicating the year an individual line was completed;
churches are labeled by year built. This map clearly shows that churcleesower
constructed in response to this transportation. Of the two churches built aftestthe fir
streetcar line in 1870, neither was close to the fin€nwuld the reverse relationship

be true, however, with the location of a church influencing where the lines wefe built
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Thomas and Bernard Corrigan who built the 1880 lines (orange on map), were Irish
so they likely would have been aware of the location of the churches (Dodd 2002, 33;
O’Neill 2000, 94-95f The Corrigans’ Broadway line ran adjacent to Immaculate
Conception Cathedral, but this is their only line that passes close to a Cdthatic.c
Given this evidence, it seems likely that the Broadway route was chosen mdse for i
hotels and opera houses than the church. Traffic provided by business customers
during the week would naturally have been of more concern to the Corrigans than the
cathedral.

The Peripheral Location of Sts. Peter and Paul: During the years
immediately after the Civil War, most Germans are said to have lived in McGee
Addition, clustered around Twelfth and Grand (Map 48) (Brown and Dorsett 1978,
46). If this is true, why was Sts. Peter and Paul built three blocks from the norther
edge of this neighborhood and not in the middle of it? Perhaps most Germans lived
in the northern part of McGee’s Addition or there were additional clusters of
Germans to the north of the church not noted by Brown and Dorsett. Perhaps
financial or structural advantages encouraged the people to build the church outside
of the main German concentration. The diocesan history provides a clue to this
mystery when it states that, at the time the parish purchased lots, in 1868, they we
near the edge of the city. Brown and Dorsett’s history does not give ardat@dbdr
the presence of Germans in McGee’s Addition, but it suggests that thewelkre

established by 1870. It may be the case that construction of the church caused a
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number of Germans to move to the nearby McGee’s Addition. Another variable to
keep in mind is that the majority of Germans were not Catholic.

The Close Proximity of Sts. Peter and Paul and St. Patrick: By 1875,
German and Irish Catholics had built two churches within four blocks of one another.
The land for the first, Sts. Peter and Paul, was purchased in 1867 and the land for the
second, St. Patrick, in 1874. Just prior to this, between 1868 and 1874, the original
St. Patrick Church was even closer, less than three blocks north. What prompted such
proximity? As this was a new area of town, land prices were probably advantageous.
In addition, because St. Patrick was established as a second parish for hisérspla
would likely have desired it be a reasonable distance from the existing parish
(Immaculate Conception) (Map 6).

The Remoteness of St. Francis Seraph: St. Francis Seraph Church in the
East Bottoms was built about three-quarters of a mile outside the city. lidvihat
could explain this locational oddity? According to the diocesan history, Belgiga t
farmers did not arrive there until the 1880s. It is possible, perhaps, that then8elgia
arrived sooner than is recorded and the parish was established to serve them.
Brown’s history discusses neither the East Bottoms nor Belgians (Mapart] Z1).

Summary

A map of the growth of parishes looking back from 1885 nicely summarizes
this chapter (Map 51). It shows parish boundaries and the year each parish was
established. The colors correspond to the year of establishment, with greetinéeing

oldest and red the most recent. It reveals initial settlement in 1847 and then the
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spread of the city east in 1868. Next comes growth in the bottoms and then spread to

the east and south in 1882.

! The persecution of Catholics in Hannover is déesttiin a letter by Bernard Reineke: "As you may
know, Hannover is now part of the Prussian kingddsnder Prussia the Catholic religion is being
suppressed altogether . . .. The Archbishop séRds the first martyr and he has been sentenced t
several years imprisonment and has been placetsonp. . . . Once the bishops are removed, then a
priests will get the same treatment, then they dl'e no other choice than to emigrate to other
countries . . . it will be hard for us Catholicxhase Germany will no longer be our country untbes
Almighty overthrows all the great overlords. Wil not have such a large family, | would move at
once to America, where religious freedom reignsiotgd in Doering and Marra 1992, 68).

2 A wide variety of social groups were seen in tlegas City German parishes. One type was
gymnastic with clubs such as the Turners or TumiverOther types included the St. Joseph Drama
club and the Schiller Society, focused on musietoand the arts. Germans, like the Irish, often
participated in parades. These activities helpddeep a strong national sense to the parisheg/set
served to break down barriers between groups: ‘pesades delighted the people and they joined
each other’s festivities, with the Germans marclsitadwartly in St. Patrick’s day parades and Irish
units out in full for Octoberfests or German parigfebrations” (Doering and Marra 1992, 90).
®Some 1,500 burials occurred here, most in thetfirstor three decades (Sts. Peter and Paul Parish
archives).

* The previously established parish boundaries \epeecise, such as the “West Bottoms,” or “east of
Main.” St. Francis Seraph’s initial boundaries e/&iverfront to Park Avenue, to Dora Avnue, to
Euclid, to Lexington, to Prospect, to Smart, todZatlo (Benton) to St. John, to Porter Road, to nrow
of bluff, to Topping, and to riverfront. The bowries for the Germans were “Start at Garfield and S
John, south to Independence, east to Topping, totthuff, connects to parish boundaries” (St.
Francis Seraph Parish archives).

® St. John the Baptist was about one quarter ofl@amiay and St. Joseph was more than one half mile
away.

® They gave money to support St. Patrick Parishligad at 1701 Summit on Irish Hill (O’'Neill 2000,
36, 95).
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Chapter Three

New Immigrantsin the City
1886-1892

City History

From 1886 to 1892, the city continued to grow based on the foundation of the
now established meatpacking and shipping industries in the West Bottoms. “The
suburbs are platted far out,” reported Ernest Ingers@bsmopolitarmagazine for
1889. “The extension of the cable railways has enabled people to live eagibnfar f
their places of businesses, and large and thickly settled additionsagpec
southward, have been added to the municipality within two or three years” (quoted i
Montgomery and Kasper 1999, 136). As part of this process, affluent residents began
to abandon areas such as Quality Hill and the mansions left behind were divided into
apartments for laborers. The center of business moved south, too, from City Market
to “The Junction” at the intersection of Main, Delaware and Ninth (Brown and
Dorsett 1978, 102). From 1880 to 1890 the city grew from fifty-five thousand
residents to one hundred thirty-two thousand. The majority of this growth occurred in
the second half of the decade and a large portion consisted of immigrant laborers.

In 1889, the Board of Public Works was established to help beautify what the
Kansas City Stahad called “the filthiest [city] in the country.” In the first year,
workers paved almost fourteen miles of street and planked sixty-thieeahi
sidewalk. The Board also promoted one of the most extensive systems of parks and

boulevards in the country (Montgomery and Kasper 1999, 135-136).
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In the West Bottoms, saloon owner Jim Pendergast became a powerful figure
by organizing laborers and directing them towards the Democrat party. Dhiang t
time, the average American worked sixty hours per week and women were entering
the workforce in larger numbers. The American Federation of Labor organized in
1886. Labor grew more important in politics as unions formed and demanded
reduced hours and higher wages (Brown and Dorsett 1978, 108; Montgomery and
Kasper 1999, 129). Kansas City experienced large railroad strikes in 1885 and 1886.
In 1886, the strikers stopped the shipment of freight for several days and the governor
called up local militias. The strike itself lasted from early March undéy Brown
and Dorsett 1978, 92).

The Church and the People

Bishop Hogan continued to lead the diocese, including some twenty thousand
Catholics in Kansas City proper. One of his achievements was a set of stdodards
the creation and location of new parish boundaries. Each parish was to encompass
approximately one square mile so the church would be within walking distanck for al
members (archives of the Diocese of Kansas City).

Another issue for Bishop Hogan was a growing animosity toward Catholics in
the city from the American Protective Association (APA). Establishedimadl
lowa, this nativist group sought to exclude Catholics from public life. In Kansas
City, the APA asserted itself in several ways. First, it establistexty-one
councils, each with between fifty and four hundred members. Second, it attempted to

ban Catholics from teaching in public schools by spreading the rumor that half the
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teachers were Catholic. In reality only eight percent were. Fiddip-backed
politicians purged the police force of Irish, according to local newspaper reports
(Brown and Dorsett 1978, 90).

One probable cause of the popularity of the APA in the Midwest and Kansas
City was the increasing number of Catholic immigrants. The creation of nine new
parishes, from 1886 to 1892, demonstrates this growth. These parishes welcomed
Irish, German, Belgian, French, Polish, and Italian families. The total mwhbe
Catholics was large enough by 1890 for the Heilman family to start a @atholi
newspaperThe Western Crosand a bookstore at Twelfth Street between Baltimore
and Wyandotte (Doering and Marra 1992, 87-88).

The large number of Catholic workers in the growing labor movement made
worker issues relevant to the Catholic Church. Uneasy with certain socialist
tendencies of the labor leaders and their attacks on private property, somecCatholi
officials desired a condemnation of such attacks. Instead, in 1891, Pope Leo XIlI
issued the encyclic&erum NovaruniNew Things), subtitled “Rights and Duties of
Capital and Labor.” While condemning socialism, the encyclical also ze$ci
capitalism’s assaults on the dignity of workers. In America, this actyimhézed
union membership for Catholics, though some in the church still wondered whether
they were secret societies (like Masons), which Catholics were forbidgtan to
(Ellis 1956, 104). In 1887, Cardinal James Gibbons argued that the Knights of Labor
was not a secret society and that membership was appropriate for Caththlees of

working class (Doering and Marra 1992, 86).
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Table 2: Parishes established 1886-1891

Parish Year Comments Location

Holy Name 1886 Irish 23and Walrond

St. Aloysius 1886 Jesuit, mixed " &and Prospect

Sacred Heart 1887 Irish D&nd Belleview

Our Lady of 1888 Redemptorist, near Linwood and

Perpetual Help Westport, mixed Broadway

St. Vincent 1888 Mixed, accommodated 17" and Oak, then

Germans 31% and Flora

St. Stephen 1888 German and Irish " ahd Benningtor

Holy Trinity 1889 Mixed 18 and Norton

Our Lady of Sorrows 1890 German 2%3and Baltimore

Holy Rosary 1891 Italian "Sand Cherry, then]
Missouri and
Campbell

Source: Coleman 1992
Irish

New Irish immigrants came to Kansas City in the 1880s and joined their
countrymen in spreading throughout the city away from clusters in specific
neighborhoods. Areas of Irish concentration still existed, but districts composed
almost entirely of Irish, such as Connaught Town, were less common. An exception
was McClure Flats, a poor neighborhood in a one block area between McGee, Grand,
Nineteenth and Twentieth streets. Otherwise, Irish tended to move east along
Independence Avenue and south atop the West Bluffs to Irish Hill. In the 1880s, 295
homes and nine stores arose in Penn Valley, creating the Irish shantytown @frVineg
Gulch. These structures composed a makeshift village with no city-supplied gas
water, few sidewalks, and no paved streets. In addition to Irish, some Germans and

blacks also lived there (Map 52) (O’Neill 2000, 92).
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As the largest Catholic group in the city, Irish suffered heavily from APA
discrimination. As already noted they were purged from the police forcaugzof
violence, St. Patrick’'s Day parades ceased after 1891 Kdimgas City Timesn an
1893 headline, proclaimed “No Parade, Luckily . . .” (quoted in O’Neill 2000, 68).

Annunciation: Although industry flourished in the West Bottoms,
Annunciation Parish continued to suffer because of land purchases by encroaching
stockyards and railroads. Residents who had grown affluent moved up to Irish Hill,
while others scattered. By 1892, fewer families were members of Annonciati
Parish than when it was founded and closure seemed to be in its future (Doering and
Marra 1992, 69-71).

Holy Name: Dominican priests, who originally had come to the city to run
St. Mary Cemetery at Twenty-second Street and Cleveland Avenue, stparsha
in that neighborhood in 1886. This site, the farthest one east at that time, served
about thirty-five people. For the first year or so Mass was celebratedatepri
homes, but 1887 saw the construction of a church at Twenty-third and Monroe (now
Walrond) (Maps 10 and 11). In 1890, the parish added a school served initially by
two Dominican sisters. A 1940 history of the parish describes the difficulties of
attending Mass in the early years: “There were few streets, notthezesbuses,
street cars or automobiles to convey them. Some were forced to start for bass be
dawn with lanterns to guide them through the fields, wooded lands or over the muddy

roads to get to church” (quoted in Coleman 1992, 149). The lack of streets resulted in
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a small number of families belonging to the parish in its initial yeachi(aas of the
diocese of Kansas City).

Sacred Heart: Until 1887, the inhabitants south of Irish Hill were members
of Immaculate Conception Parish. Sacred Heart was Bishop Hogan’s regponse t
local Catholics who sought their own parish (Carton 1980). Initially, the parish
consisted of fifty families and celebrated Mass in the home of Edward Daimetitng
corner of Twenty-fifth and Holly. Soon a small log frame church was built near
Twenty-fifth and Madison (Maps 12 and 13). The central location of the church in
the parish was clearly chosen with an eye to the future because, acocor@ardgorn
fire insurance maps for 1895, the entire block, as well as all the surrounding blocks,
were undeveloped save one other structure at that date. The parish was sparsely
developed in the middle, where the church was located, and along the western edge.
The northern blocks were highly developed and the southern blocks were somewhat
developed. Scandinavian, German, and English immigrants lived in the parish along
with Irish, but it is unlikely many attended Sacred Heart. Most of the Brahd
Scandinavians were not Catholic and the Germans attended Sts. Peter and Paul (and,
after 1891, Our Lady of Sorrows—see below). Sacred Heart served rogkarsv
for the nearby packinghouses of the West Bottoms. A parish census conducted in
1892 showed 280 families and 280 children enrolled in the school (Coleman 1992,
197-198).

I mmaculate Conception: No relevant history was recorded for the cathedral

parish during this time.
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St. Patrick: The small Italian community served here, discussed later, is the
only event related to this study recorded during this time.
St. John the Baptist: During this period the parish added thirty feet to the

church and purchased a rectory. No other relevant history is recorded.

German

Our Lady of Sorrows. Affluent parishioners of Sts. Peter and Paul
petitioned Bishop Hogan for a new German national parish in 1890. Many German
families had moved south, away from their church near downtown. The request
indicated children were being forced to walk an inordinate distance to school. Bishop
Hogan agreed to the request and arranged for German Franciscans tdesiables
parish. Initially the Franciscans offered Mass in a rented two-stimiy fiuilding on
Southwest Boulevard (Map 18). In 1891, a church (one hundred twenty-six by fifty-
eight feet) and school were built at Twenty-third and Baltimore in the vall@ykaf
Creek. Unfortunately for the church, railroad officials selected tladaitthe
modern Union Station only fifteen years later (Coleman 1992, 192; archives of the
diocese of Kansas City.)

Sts. Peter and Paul: No relevant history was recorded for this parish during
this period.

African Americans

By 1890, Kansas City was home to around fourteen thousand black residents,

an increase of six thousand from ten years earlier (Coulter 2006, 26). Originally, the

had mostly lived in the West Bottoms, but the expansion of industry there (the same
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force that had reduced Annunciation Parish) also compelled blacks to move out
during the late 1880s and early 1890s. Church Hill, between Eighth and Twelfth
streets and Locust and Forest streets, was an important hub for blacks in the 1880s
and 1890s. They also dispersed to the north side, southward close to the state line,
and southeast between Troost and Woodland (Brown and Dorsett 1978, 96; Coulter
2006, 27).

St. Joseph: This parish, which had opened southeast of downtown in 1883,
was in a position to serve some of the newly relocated people. In 1891, a church
(fifty by ninety-eight feet) had just been completed at Nineteenth andsbiarri
streets. From the parish history it is unclear whether black residergsnelided as
part of the parish community or were just living within the parish boundaries. During
this period, segregation was not as strict as it would later become, so it islproba
that blacks were included in the parish. There was no separate black parish as ye
(Coleman 1992, 239-240).

Italians

In the late 1880s, railroad work, which did not require fluency in English,
drew several hundred Italians from the southern provinces of Basilicata li&€a
to Kansas City. They joined a much smaller number of immigrants from the area of
the northern port city of Genoa, who had settled in the North End, between Grand and
Lydia, Front and Independence streets over the previous thirty years (Mapys3)

1890, a total of 729 people of Italian descent lived in the city (Bongino 1991).
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Holy Rosary: Italians attended St. Patrick before the creation of Holy
Rosary. As more immigrants arrived, however, they pushed for their own parish.
Bishop Hogan agreed in 1891, inviting a recently formed religious order, the
Scalabrini Fathers, to serve a new parish in the North End. Italian Bishop John
Baptist Scalabrini, with the goal of serving Italian emigrants in NorthSamdh
America, had started this order in 1887 and he assigned Father Ferdinando Santipolo
to start Holy Rosary parish. For four years Mass was held in storefrorift atriel
Forest and elsewhere as parishioners struggled to raise money foctaahtineir
own. Santipolo’s flock endured poverty and only a few spoke English. In 1892, a
religious order, the Sisters of Mercy began teaching twenty-five pdnilsinen
(Bongino 1991).
Mixed

As the children and grandchildren of first-generation immigrants, especially
Irish, became more inculcated in the American way of life, they often moved away
from ethnic neighborhoods and lost some of their earlier identity. These parishioner
along with a small number of others who lacked strong ties to their ethnic group or
who had converted to Catholicism, led to the development of some parishes | classify
as mixed. American is another name commonly applied to these parishes, but this
should not be taken to mean that Irish, German, and other parishes were not really
American. These parishes did not have one distinctive ethnic character listgd in an

of their histories.
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St. Francis Seraph: This parish, in the remote East Bottoms, continued to be
home to a wide range of nationalities as shown by this 1892 quotation from the
Catholic Registera local paper:

It is a mixed congregation in the full meaning of the word. It counts about 115

families, and one-third of them are English speaking, 1/3 Germans, and the rest
consists of Belgians, Frenchmen and Poles. The gospel is read, therefore, every
Sunday in English, German, Flemish, and French; preaching every Sunday ih Englis
and German, once a month in Flemish and on high feasts days also in French. Thanks
to God, all these nationalities live in the best peace. The congregation is about as
poor as one can be. Therefore, after it had been for two months without a priest, the
Franciscan Fathers of the St. Louis province took, for pity sake, last May dfarge
(Catholic Register'East Bottoms Church Dedication Sunday,” 30 Jan 1892).

St. Vincent: Bishop Hogan decreed the establishment of this territorial parish
just south of downtown at eighteenth and Oak in 1888. The neighborhood was partly
Irish, but the decree also specifically stated that all Germans itha the
boundaries of the parish were to attend St. Vincent. This was a change from the
policy established for Sts. Peter and Paul, allowing all Germans in the aitynd
the national parish. The decree also mandated that the Vincentians, the religious
order serving the parish, provide a priest who could speak German. This clearly
means that a large number of Germans must have resided within the boundaries of the
parish, not a surprising fact given the establishment of Our Lady of Sorrovxy nea
two years later. The Vincentians originally offered Mass in storerooars ne
Seventeenth and Grand (Maps 14 and 15) (Coleman 1992, 286).

By 1890, Bishop Hogan realized he had made a mistake by establishing St.

Vincent too close to the growing downtown region. It would soon lack parishioners

as businesses replaced residences. That year, 225 individuals were considered
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members of the parish, but only nineteen families lived within its boundaries. The
majority of these families lived in the Irish neighborhood of McClure FIBishop
Hogan therefore decided to move the parish south, making the northern boundary
Twenty-seventh Street. He and the Vincentians selected a new locatzochiarch
at Thirty-first and Flora. This created a gap where St. Vincent usedhathgas not
officially reassigned to any other parish territory. Farmland andadids surrounded
the new site (Maps 18 and 19) (Coleman 1992, 286).

St. Stephen: On the east side of town, at the Sheffield District in the Blue
River valley, several Pennsylvania companies built factories, including the
Pennsylvania Car Works and the Kansas City Switch and Frog Company. These
factories brought skilled German and Irish workmen, many of whom were Catholic
In 1888, Bishop Hogan purchased land on the bluff overlooking the valley, on
Washington Park Boulevard (now Fourth Street) between Bennington and Newton
avenues, to serve this growing community of workers. In laying out the boundaries,
he created a parish significantly larger than those he had created inréhsettied
parts of the city and one that left a gap between it and parishes to the west. The
special circumstances of the factory district of Sheffield explairotiaty, since its
creation created an isolated “island” of settlement. The area betweedubgial
district and the rest of the city was so sparsely populated that Hogan had no problem
including it in the boundaries for St. Stephen (Maps 14 and 15) (Coleman 1992, 277).
A Sanborn fire insurance map for 1895 indicates that a gap still existed between the

manufacturing district and the city proper.
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Holy Trinity: This parish located between the Sheffield District and the rest
of the city started small in 1889 with only twenty families (Maps 16 and 17). The
diocesan history notes that, at this time, the streetcar came ad fas €dsveland
and that people often walked downtown. That the streetcar line extended only to
Cleveland Avenue confirms a lack of population in the eastern part of the parish as
well as in St. Stephen Parish. A church was completed in 1889 on the corner of
Tenth and Norton (Coleman 1992, 168).

St. Aloysius: In 1885, the Jesuit Provincial, Leopold Bushart, wrote Bishop
Hogan that the Jesuits had permission from their Father General to acquarma sit
Kansas City for a church, school, and college. By 1887, they had selected a site on
the southeast corner of Eleventh and Prospect and there finished a church basement
(Maps 12 and 13). Although some residents opposed the construction of a Catholic
school in the neighborhood, the Jesuits eventually purchased property near the church
for an elementary school. By 1888, a three-story brick building was ready to house
156 students. One hundred ninety-seven children were enrolled by 1890, and 245 by
1892. In 1890, three thousand people were present for the laying of the cornerstone
for the church superstructure that would open in 1891. The boundaries of the new
parish were extended north to Smart Avenue in 1891. The parish was growing
rapidly, although plans for college construction had been put on hold.

Westport Area
Our Lady of Good Counsel: The church in Westport had been closed and

boarded up since 1874 with the people being served by the Redemptorist chapel. In
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1888, however, Father R. M. Ryan arrived to lead the completion and refurbishing of
the church that had been started twenty years earlier. Bishop Hogan approved the
name and the boundaries of the church at this time. The reopening of this church and
support given in the form of a name and boundaries strongly suggests a growing
Catholic population in Westport (Coleman 1992, 175).

Our Lady of Perpetual Help: Also, during this period, the Redemptorist
Fathers continued to celebrate Mass for the community near Westport in tipeir cha
on the third floor of their monastery. In the initial years, the priests offeeess kere
as a convenience to the people of the surrounding area, but in 1888, Bishop Hogan
canonically established it as a parish with a name and boundaries. This is a second
indicator of a growing Catholic presence in the southern part of the city. $event
families made up the initial parish, with seven of those families living in tatiterr
than houses. In 1890, the Redemptorist college for novitiates was moved out of the
city (Maps 14 and 15) (Coleman 1992, 185).

Analysis

Several ethnic and religious relationships that occurred during the late 1880s
and early 1890s deserve closer analysis. | look first at the locationhohrisitalian
neighborhoods, second at a link between the location of churches and streetcar lines,
and finally at the circumstances surrounding placement of churches and parish
boundaries.

Ethnic Neighborhoods: Irish during this period were less clustered in

neighborhoods than during the previous years, although some concentrations such as
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Irish Hill remained and new ones emerged in Penn Valley and McClure Miaps (
52). Holy Name Parish is described as Irish in its history but no known Irish
neighborhoods are present in its boundaries. This may be a case of a significant
number of Irish living in the parish but not gathered in particular neighborhoods.

Italians began to arrive at the start of the 1890s and settle in the North End
(Map 53). The description of their neighborhood in the history fits with the
dispersion of the storefronts that served as space for Mass during the aggly ye
Three separate stores were used for this purpose, spread throughout the
neighborhood. The eventual church was constructed near the center of the
neighborhood.

Streetcarsand Churches: In the previous chapter | demonstrated little
connection between the location of Catholic churches and streetcar lines. Does the
increased importance and visibility of streetcars during the late 1880s ¢hange
relationship? Map 54 shows the network in 1892 with the location of the churches
and the year each was built. Our Lady of Sorrows, the second German church, was
built at the intersection of two lines. These lines may have been important to the
planners in their selection of the church location. It would be especially impfatant
a national church, which drew parishioners from across the city, to be close to the
streetcar network. Sacred Heart, in 1889 was built two blocks or about three hundred
yards from a route.

St. Vincent Gap: The relocation of the entire St. Vincent parish by Bishop

Hogan in 1890 created a gap where no parish was assigned (Map 55). This raises
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several questions about this region: Did any Catholics live there? If so, wisht par

did they attend? Why were the boundaries not readjusted after the departure of St.
Vincent? The reason for the movement of St. Vincent (i.e. the encroachment of
downtown) indicates that the northern part of the gap probably had few residents.
Diocesan archivist, Father Michael Coleman, provided an additional answer to these
guestions: The majority of the Catholics living in this area were Germams w
attended Our Lady of Sorrows parish, just west of the gap. The remaining Gatholic
primarily attended St. Joseph but some also went to other surrounding parishes

(Michael Coleman, interview by the author, Kansas City, MO, February 2008).

Summary

Map 56, showing when each parish was established, nicely summarizes this
chapter. It shows a continued spread of the city east and south plus a jump across
vacant land to create the Sheffield Industrial District (St. StepherhRaliss also
interesting to note that Holy Name and St. Aloysius were created in thenessie
southeastern part of town before Our Lady of Perpetual Help and St. Vincent
appeared in the south in 1888. A person familiar with the city today might assume
the primary growth of the city always had been to the south, but Map 56 confirms
historical accounts that, briefly in the late 1880s, eastern growth outstrippéal tha

the south (Brown and Dorsett 1978, 102).

L A fire in 1896 destroyed the bookstore and thelties) debt forced the family to close the newspape
(Doering and Marra 1992, 87-88).
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Chapter Four

Depression, Followed by Growth
1893-1912

City History

A depression lasting four years struck the nation and the city in 1893
(Montgomery and Kasper 1999, 141). Following this came a time of steady growth
and expansion. Observers at the time commented that the city had moved beyond its
pioneer roots and reached maturity (Brown and Dorsett 1978, 99-102). By 1900, the
population had grown to more than one hundred sixty-three thousand. The
annexation of Westport, in 1897, which added twenty thousand citizens and thirteen
square miles, fueled some of this expansion (Montgomery and Kasper 1999, 137).
More growth was provided by meatpacking plants in the West Bottoms, which had
begun to recruit workers from southern and eastern Europe. In addition to the
Westport annexation, the city limits also moved eastwards in 1897. These boundaries
were expanded again in 1909 (Map 41). This time the city grew to almost sixty
square miles adding the Leeds district in the Blue River Valley, the Coutry C
District, the Waldo community in the south, and others. Almost two hundred-fifty
thousand people now lived in Kansas City (Montgomery and Kasper 1999, 159, 162).

City beautification continued at this time with boulevards connecting large
parks, plus a series of smaller neighborhood parks. Many areas were transformed
including the West Bluffs and Vinegar Gulch, which became West Terrace and Penn
Valley parks, respectively (Montgomery and Kasper 1999, 173). Thomas Swope

gave two square miles of land to the city, in 1896, for a large park south of Sixty-third
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Street (Brown and Dorsett 1978, 166). Street-cleaning, building inspections,
hospitals, and sanitation received increased emphasis (Brown and Dorsett 1978, 116,
133). This included creation of the Board of Public Welfare in 1910 to deal with
social and economic problems (Brown and Dorsett 1978, 156)

To celebrate the city’s growth, support grew for the construction of a grand
assembly building. The Kansas City Convention Hall was completed in February
1899 and officials convinced the Democratic Party to hold its 1900 presidential
nominating convention there. Just three months before its start, however, the hall
burned completely. An amazing reconstruction made a new hall ready in tirhe for t
convention, a process that demonstrated the city’s organization and became a source
of local pride (Brown and Dorsett 1978, 126-128).

Progress was steady for the first decade of the new century, interrupted only
by a flood in 1903 that inundated the West Bottoms and killed twenty people.
Between fifteen and twenty thousand people, about ten percent of the two Kansas
Cities, were left temporarily homeless (Montgomery and Kasper 1999, 151, 155-158).

By 1908, almost all local streetcars had been converted to electric power. In
the same year, the city began issuing tags for automobiles; 391 wetereebike
first year. Railroads were also in the news. Their construction activégkattracted
two thousand Mexicans to the city (Montgomery and Kasper 1999, 169). Some
worked on track maintenance, others on construction of a new Union Station south of

downtown at Twenty-third and Main (Montgomery and Kasper 1999, 178).
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In 1908, the real estate developer J. C. Nichols began purchasing land for his
Country Club District along Ward Parkway south of Forty-eighth Street. This
became an area for wealthy residents who had begun to abandon Quality Hill and a
slightly newer area near Armour Boulevard called Hyde Park. Nichols used
restrictive deed covenants to keep land prices high, including prohibitions on blacks
and other ethnicities from purchasing property in his development. This was a
common, though regrettable, practice during the time (Brown and Dorsett 1978, 172-

175).

Church History

During this period of general growth, Bishop Hogan led the city’'s seventeen
Catholic parishes. The economic depression of 1893 temporarily halted the
establishment of new parishes. Lebanese Catholics began The Church of Our Lady
Parish in 1893, but no others were started until 1902. Then came a large expansion.
Twelve parishes were set up over the next nine years, including five in 1909 (Table
3). These generally lacked distinct ethnic character, although an Aiioanican
parish and a second German parish were notable exceptions. Thomas Casey started
an independent Catholic newspapiére Catholic Keyin 1899 and Notre Dame de

Sion, a Catholic girl's high school, opened in 1912.
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Table 3: Parishes established 1893-1910

Parish Year Comments Location
Various storefronts in
Church of Our Lady | 1893 Lebanese North End
New Annunciation 1902 Mixed Linwood and Benton
Holy Cross 1902 Mixed St. John and Quincy
39" and Fremont (in
Holy Family 1905 Mixed Leeds)
St. Louis and Hickory
All Saints 1906 Mixed (West Bottoms)
St. James (The
Lesser) 1906 Mixed Aband Tracy
St. Michael 1906 Mixed 2%and Brighton
Assumption 1909 Mixed Lexington and Benton
Blessed Sacrament 1909 Mixed "3¢hd Agnes
Guardian Angel 1909 German "4and Mercier
St. Francis Xavier 1909 Jesuit, mixed "58hd Troost
Visitation of the English
Blessed Mother 1909 speakers 5% and Main
African-
St. Monica 1910 American 18' and Harrison
Irish

No parishes described as Irish were established during these yeaed Sacr
Heart Parish remained strongly Irish but many of the parishes that weigugre
described as Irish were becoming more “Americanized,” shrinking, and/gratitey
other ethnicities.

Sacred Heart: The two hundred and eight families constituting Sacred Heart
began to erect a new, small, log-frame church in 1894 at Twenty-fifth and Madison.
Three years later a stone church was built around it, and in 1912, an addition
(Coleman 1992, 198). Irish and German families made this a strongly Catholic

section of town, although the Germans were adamant in attending their own parish,
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Our Lady of Sorrows (Doering and Marra 1992, 66). Mexicans, hired to work on the
railroads, arrived in the parish starting in 1900. The construction of Union Station
nine years later brought more Mexicans to the parish. Some housing was binlt wit
the parish boundaries for these workers. Others purchased homes from upwardly
mobile Irish families (diocesan archives for Sacred Heart).

Sanborn fire insurance maps for 1895 indicate that this parish was
overwhelmingly residential with only a few hotels, a warehouse, a city syapdy
and a livery. This high proportion of houses probably explains why the parish had
less acreage than the norm.

Annunciation: By 1897, this West Bottom parish, which at one time had
been the largest in the state, was now one of the smallest. With fewer than three
hundred members and an annual income of only two hundred dollars, the diocese sold
the church and rectory to the neighboring Rock Island Railway Company. The paris
temporarily moved back into the 1872 frame church at the corner of Fourteenth and
Wyoming, but in 1902, closed entirely. The people of the West Bottoms thereafter
had to attend Mass at Immaculate Conception.

Holy Name: Construction of new housing in this east side parish sparked
ambitious plans. Sanborn maps from 1895 show the southern third of the parish
being undeveloped, the area directly around the church lightly developed residential
and the northwest part of parish more densely developed. By 1909, however, the
entire parish had been filled with homes. Such expansion prompted a new building in

1907, one cathedral in size that would seat one thousand people.
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St. John the Baptist: During the first ten years of the twentieth century, a
few Italians began moving east from the North End and into this previously Irish
parish. Other than this, no relevant history is available for this parish during this
time. Sanborn maps for 1895 show mainly small residential lots around the church
with the eastern half of the parish containing larger lots and houses. By 1909, maps
show an apartment complex adjacent to church, and a small tire factory on ¢he sam
block. Some of the former vacant areas are now filled with residences.

I mmaculate Conception: No relevant history exists in the parish records for
the cathedral area during this time. The neighborhood had become fairly industria
however. According to the 1895 Sanborn maps, a paper box factory, a candy factory,
a boot store, dry goods stores, a furniture and carpet company, the New York Life
Insurance Building, other office buildings, hotels, a bakery, a dye works, a
homeopathic pharmacy, an indoor swimming tank, and a dance academy were
nearby. So were the Coates Opera House, the Kansas City Medical and Surgical
Sanatorium, the Sisters of St. Joseph Hospital, Kansas City Medical College, a
Baptist church, two Presbyterian churches, a Swedish Lutheran church, and an
Episcopalian church.

St. Patrick: Sanborn maps of 1895 depict the western half of this parish as
commercial and the eastern half as residential. North of Independence Avenue
houses and lots were generally smaller and were built near some industrg auch a
cider mill, a pitch and tar distillery, the Kansas City Gas, Light, and Coke&mom

a brewery, and several brickyards. Two rows of buildings between First amadSec
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and Locust and Oak, were labeled “Italian Tenements,” the beginning ofytlse cit
“Little Italy” in the North End. By 1909, Sanborn maps show a replacement of many
of the residences in the eastern half of the parish by dance halls, hotels|$cespd
small businesses.
German

Around the turn of the century, Germans were moving south out of Sts. Peter
and Paul Parish. Our Lady of Sorrows gained members in this process, but the moves
extended even father south to the area around Forty-third and Roanoke Parkway near
Westport.

Sts. Peter and Paul: This original German parish was rapidly being
surrounded by the commercial activities of downtown Kansas City according to the
Sanborn maps of 1895. Within four blocks of the church were several hotels, a
carriage and wagon shop, a buggy company, a Salvation Army barracks, a Masonic
Hall, the Grand Opera House, tkansas City StaBuilding, a department store,
several Protestant churches, and a public library. In addition, a new U. S. post office
and customhouse occupying half a city block was under construction across the street
Maps from 1909 show an even greater number of commercial structures in the
vicinity, particularly hotels and office buildings.

By 1900, people were predicting that urban encroachment would soon force
the parish’s closure. Many former attendees now lived near Our Lady oixSand

Guardian Angel churches (diocesan archives for Sts. Peter and Paul). The asrish w
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able to survive only out of tradition as thkee Catholic Registesf June 14, 1917
explains:

The old structure on McGee Street is one of Kansas City's landmarks. Around it
center many hallowed memories. For years it marked what was the ressgéetion

of the center of home life. Business crowded it. One by one the people were forced
to retreat before commercial offensives. Sky-scrapers rose on everysicle year

for nearly a quarter of a century people thought the old church must go. But in the
face of the spirit and power of business it held grimly on and today it stands as almos
the last link of the old days (quoted in diocesan archives for Sts. Peter and Paul).

Our Lady of Sorrows. This second German parish, on the city’s west side,
grew rapidly in the 1890s. Being close to the strong Irish parish of SacregitHea
was natural for some rivalry to develop. James P. McGilley recounts tidgylof
parishioners to their ethnic group:

In 1905 Our Lady of Sorrows was German. Period! Plenty of Irishmen lived in the
area but they went to Sacred Heart, at 26th and Madison, which was just as Irish as
Our Lady of Sorrows was German. To give you an idea of how strong the ties of
national heritage were in those days: Max Hensler's family moved from 1821dViain t
1824 Tracy in 1903. Now 1824 Tracy was exactly a half block from St. Joseph’s
School. But, did Max go to St. Joseph's? Not on your life! He walked over four
miles every day to and from Our Lady of Sorrows (diocesan archives foradyrdf
Sorrows).

In 1906, railroad officials with the Terminal Company purchased the church
property at Twenty-third and Baltimore for $51,000. This land was to be used for the
new Union Station, which, when finished, had its ticket office where the church used
to stand. Parishioners continued to use the church until July 1907. Few sites existed
to build a new church and Bishop Hogan did not want it to be too near Sacred Heart
at Twenty-sixth and Madison (Map 24). Finally parishioners purchased new land at

Twenty-Sixth and Gillham. This property, a former chicken farm, disappointed

people who had already built homes near the old church at Twenty-third and
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Baltimore. Still, in December 1906 the cornerstone for the new church was laid and
in June of the next year the first Mass was offered in the new church (Coleman 1992,
193-194).

Guardian Angdl: In 1909, the idea for a new German parish to serve those
who had moved near Westport was discussed during a card game among influential
Germans. A proposal was presented to Father Ernest Zechenter, the cstogrdgfpa
Saints Peter and Paul, who then introduced it to Bishop Hogan. Hogan approved the
request. The boundaries were listed simply as “all Germans on the south sids.” Ma
was celebrated first in a vacant grocery store at Forty-third aeheviizw (Map 26)
while the forty member families oversaw construction of a two-story budking at
Forty-third and Mercer. At this time, most of the streets in the area wpayed and
cattle grazed up to the classroom windows (diocesan archives for Guardian Angel;
Coleman 1992, 142-143).

African Americans

St. Monica: In 1910, Franciscan Father Cyprian Sauer searched the black
neighborhoods around Fifteenth and The Paseo for Catholics, but discovered only
thirty. People there were suspicious of Catholic priests and reluctant to spgeak wit
them. When Sauer tried to advertise his services in the local black newspaper, the
editor refused to run the ad on the grounds that it would ruin his paper. Sauer wanted
to start a parish in the area, but could only gather $1,050. So he appealed to Mother
Katherine Drexel, founder of the Sisters of the Blessed Sacrament for |lad@ns

Colored Peoplé. Years later he explained the response he got and the source of the
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parish’s name: “I made a promise to St. Monica of Africa, who prayed so long for the
conversion of her son Augustine, that if financial aid were given soon, the mission
would be dedicated in her honor. Exactly a week after that day | receiveer a lett
from Mother Katherine (Drexel), stating that she was considering mea#ipjoguoted

in Coleman 1992, 255). Drexel personally inspected the situation in Kansas City
during a trip to the western United States and donated eight thousand dollars to
purchase the first property (Coleman 1992, 254-255).

Sauer began celebrating Mass for blacks at the St. John the Baptlst paris
school. Segregation, by this time, had become mainstream in Kansas City and it wa
unlikely that blacks were allowed to attend Mass anywhere else. Sauewmrqle,
has himself detailed an encounter with racism that ended Mass at St. John school:
Everything went smoothly until the pastor of St. John Church, ten blocks away, a
guaint old Irishman, who really had no connection with St. John School, heard of the
Negroes desecrating the school by holding divine services in it. Thegetaasdo
mixed with a thunderstorm and blizzard of execrations. On hearing of the furor |
called upon him to explain our object in having their service there, but full of scorn,
he told me that | was the craziest man on the earth, a blot on the city, and tifat | ou
to be expelled from the Catholic Church for wasting my priestly life, working for
brutes that have no soul. Without a word, | politely shook the dust from my shoes
before his door and left his sanctum (quoted in Coleman 1992, 255).

After losing St. John school, the parish moved to a frame cabin remodeled to
serve as a church and school at Seventeenth and Lydia (Map 28). There were no
kneelers for the pews and a school desk served as an altar. The roof often leaked
during rainstorms. Father Zechenter of Saints Peter and Paul and the Kaoeljer fa

donated needed items. At this location Sister Theophile began teaching fiftgrchildr

in 1910, five of whom were Catholic. From 1910 to 1915, Sauer made begging trips
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through Saints Peter and Paul and Our Lady of Sorrows parishes for money to keep
church open. It seems remarkable that he chose the two German parishes. Perhaps
he was German. It could also be that these parishes had a reputation for generosity.
The parish history of Saints Peter and Paul shows pride in the help given byshe pari
to blacks and Hispanics (Coleman 1992, 256).

St. Joseph: By 1912, increasing strict segregation and the opening of St.
Monica ended African-American attendance at St. Joseph. Sanborn maps for 1895
show the church surrounded by medium-sized houses and some undeveloped lots.
The northern part of the parish was distinctively more developed than the southern.
By 1909, change had occurred. New commercial and industrial developments
appeared, including a lumber yard, a cement factory, a sheet metal wostsriwe
Cabinet and Furniture Manufacturer, a Montgomery Ward warehouse, and a Standard
Oil Company tank farm. The rest of the parish was now densely residential.

Italians

Two thousand Italians lived in the city by 1900 and four thousand six hundred
by 1910. Nearly all came from the poor, southern sector of that county, most from
Sicily. During this time, “Little Italy” emerged as a community iartsas City’s
North End. It had its own doctors, lawyers, stores, and, of course, church.

Holy Rosary: In 1895, two hundred Italian families completed a church on
the southeast corner of Missouri Avenue and Campbell Street. By 1897, this parish
had grown to 366 families comprised of 646 members, 463 of whom were male. In

1896, Italians held a parade to lead Cardinal Francis Satilli, the firab&pos
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delegate to the United States, from the Immaculate Conception Cathedral downtow
to the new church. The big flood of 1903 damaged many parishioners’ homes and a
fire that same year destroyed the church on Easter morning. A new churcth apene
the same location within months, but the interior remained undecorated for fige year
The parish finally had money to build a school in 1907 thanks to a donation of seven
thousand dollars by John Benoist, a Kansas City pioneer. In 1910, the growing size
of the community necessitated an additional two Sunday Masses (Coleman 1992,
159-160).
L ebanese

Church of Our Lady: In 1893, another group of Catholics arrived to work
and worship in the city—a small colony of Lebanese lead by Joseph .Mastsn
four months, around eighty-five men and fifteen women had arrived. A local
Catholic newspaper reported in 1893 that the chief of the colony expected to receive
more colonists within a few months but it is unknown whether these did, in fact,
arrive (diocesan archive for Church of Our Lady). The colony was not laogysgle
or wealthy enough to support a church, so they met in storefront buildings they
owned downtown using the Maronite Rite to celebrate Mass (Map 57). Father Hanna
lammeen, who came with the immigrants, had received special permission from
Bishop Hogan for this practice. The English translation of the name of thie pass
“Church of Our Lady,” but most people referred to it as the Arabian church. This

Lebanese colony was small enough so that the storefront locations chosen for Mass
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likely are good indicators of where these people lived (Coleman 1992, 140; Doering
and Marra 1992, 398).
Mixed

Most of the new parishes begun during this period have no distinctive ethnic
character listed in their histories. All were mixed parishes of manycétasiwith
descendants of Irish who had become more integrated into the mainstreamaAmeric
culture often being in leadership roles.

St. Francis Seraph: In 1897, this isolated parish in the East Bottoms built a
school and a rectory. Sisters came every day from Independence to teanbd iA fl
1903 caused damage to the area (Coleman 1992, 221-222), but Sanborn maps for
1895 show a sparsely built residential area around the church. One block south stood
the massive Heim Brewery with a railyard, grain elevator, and bottling house.

St. Vincent: Bishop Hogan wrote a letter in 1902 describing the south-central
area where this parish was located:
St. Vincent's Parish district is without exception the most beautiful, hesadithy
inviting residential portion of Kansas City. The people who have settled therein, so
far, are orderly and well-to-do—without pomp or pride—and have no immoral plague
spot amongst them. The parish is very fast becoming populous, and in the course of
time will no doubt have Catholics enough to form a large congregation. Several
street cars traverse the district, having their terminals in the busines®kiagw
centers of the city (quoted in diocesan archives for St. Vincent).

Sanborn maps of 1895 show a few houses around the church and the whole

parish as sparsely residential. By 1909 several hotels existed in the inemedia

vicinity of the church along with large houses. The parish was now mainly
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residential with especially dense concentrations in its southern portion. Taeqaes
of two sanitariums supports Hogan’s praise of the parish’s beauty and health.

St. Stephen: The depression of 1893 hit the six-year-old Sheffield industrial
district in the Blue River Valley hard. Correspondingly, St. Stephen parish also
suffered. This was a “year of great panic, the community as a thrivingriatitsyn
disappeared almost as rapidly as it had come” (diocesan archives for St. Stephen).
Adding to the struggles was a fire that destroyed the Kansas City Switd¢freg
plantin 1894. A flood brought further trouble to the parish (Coleman 1992, 227).
According toThe Kansas City Past
In 1903, as the parish was having a bazaar, the east bottoms began to flood. The
bazaar was forgotten as parishioners rushed to the bottoms to rescue Ralaian, It
and Mexican families who lost everything to the flood. The families were brapght
on the bluff and parishioners fed and cared for them until they were able to return
home (quoted in diocesan archives for St. Stephen).

In 1908, a southward spread of housing in this district prompted the relocation
of the church to Tenth and Bennington. The process took several weeks, and Mass
was celebrated while the church building was on rollers in the middle of tbe stre
(Coleman 1992, 227). Sanborn maps for 1909 show some manufacturing still active
in the area. Three districts existed along the Blue River from north to soutfiel@hef
near Seventh Street containing the Kansas City Bolt and Nut Company and the
Snyder Steel and Iron Works; Centropolis near Twelfth Street containing the
Sheffield Gas Power Company, the American Roofing Company, and machine shops

for the Ford Motor Company; and Manchester near Seventeenth Street containing the

Prier Brass Manufacturing Company and the Witte Iron Works.
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Holy Trinity: In 1902, Bishop Hogan divided Holy Trinity Parish in half at
Independence Avenue and created the new Holy Cross parish in the area to the north.
In 1909, Holy Trinity church nearly burned to the ground with all of its contents
being lost. The next year the church was rebuilt along with a new school (Map 21)
(Coleman 1992, 168).

St. Aloysius: In 1896, two hundred-seventy students were enrolled at this
parish’s school in the city’s northeastern section, but attendance was poor. By 1910,
however, increased enroliment prompted the addition of four new classrooms. A
rectory was built in 1912 (Coleman 1992, 204). Sanborn maps for 1895 show
medium-sized homes in the area along with the Kansas City Exposition Building, a
half-mile race track, and some light industry in the southeast along railec#d.t
Maps for 1909 show only slight changes including removal of the race track and
construction of a Missouri and Kansas Telephone Company building across the alley
from the church.

New Annunciation: When Annunciation church in the West Bottoms was
closed in 1902, Bishop Hogan instructed Father Dalton to start a new parish in the
area south of Twenty-Seventh Street and east of Brooklyn Avenue (Map 21). This
new unit, in a largely rural area, would resurrect the name Annunciation. Theedioces
bought land at Linwood and Benton where Dalton offered the first Mass in June 1902
with two hundred people present (Map 20). Construction of a permanent church

started that year, but because of low membership and economic hardship, it was not
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completely finished for more than two decades (Coleman 1992, 110). Sanborn maps
for 1909 confirm the rural nature of this parish.

Holy Cross: In 1902, in one room of a large house on the northeast side of
town, one hundred twenty members of this parish celebrated its first Mass. A
permanent church was started at St. John Avenue and Quincy in 1904 (Maps 20 and
21). By the next year it was usable for Mass, although it was not finishied9ir#.

The area around the church at the time of construction was largely vacant with
pastures and weeds. Few streets existed and fewer still were paved.fiddirty-
families comprised the initial parish but they quickly grew to seventywitign four
years.

Holy Family: Until 1905, Catholics in the Leeds neighborhood had to travel
up to three miles to attend Mass at Holy Name Church at Twenty-third andnd/alr
(Maps 22 and 23). A committee of four then petitioned Bishop Hogan and he
established Holy Family Parish, to be run by Franciscans. The fidesire hall
between Beninngton and Fuller avenues, but the next year parishioners built a
permanent structure at Fremont and Thirty-ninth. Monsignor Bauer recalls the
geographic problems that limited attendance:

The parish actually was a large one and would have been in attendance if people
could have gotten there easily. The entire west side of the parish was cuth&ff by t
Little Blue River which ran behind the rectory and church. Most of the people on the
West side went to Annunciation or Blessed Sacrament because there [siclosere

and easier to get to. The Leeds area was mostly commercial and to the East,
undeveloped or close to Nativity [parish in Independence]. Though there might have

been several hundred families within the boundaries of the parish, probably not more
than 50 or 60 attended Mass there (quoted in Coleman 1992, 301).
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All Saints: To serve the remaining one hundred Catholics in the West
Bottoms after Annunciation Parish closed, Bishop Hogan established All Saints
Parish at St. Louis Avenue and Hickory Street in 1906 (Maps 24 and 25). Attendance
never was good, however, and it closed in 1910 (Coleman 1992, 108).

St. James (The Lesser): Walsman Hall, at Thirty-eighth and Woodland in the
city’s southern sector, was a popular place for dances during the week. On the
weekends, however, Baptists, Mormons, and Catholics each rented it for five dollars
an hour. During the Catholic hour from ten to eleven, people brought in a makeshift
altar, constructed of boxes nailed together and covered with white cloth. Priests
heard confessions behind the piano on the bandstand. This was the start of St. James
the Lesser Parish, comprised of seventeen families in 1906 (Map 25). By the end of
the year, a small frame church had been completed at Fortieth and Tracy (Map 24).
Four Sisters of Mercy arrived in September 1907 to serve a newly built school. In
1911, the growing parish (how more than one hundred families) needed more room.
It expanded the school and built a new church at Thirty-ninth and Harrison that seated
four hundred people (Coleman 1992, 229-230).

St. Michael the Archangel: In 1905, at least thirty Catholic families lived
east of Jackson Avenue and south of Eighteenth Street. At that time streescar line
ran no farther east than Jackson making it difficult for these familiegetadd¥lass at
Holy Name, the closest church (diocesan archives for St. Michael the Archangel
That year, these families met in the home of David Egan, near Twentl-ondt

Hardesty, to determine if they could support a new parish on the city’s eastern edg
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The next year Bishop Hogan approved the establishment of St. Michael the
Archangel (Map 23). Mass was initially celebrated in Egan’s home until a frame
church was built at Twenty-fourth and Brighton in 1906 (Map 24). Parishioners
constructed this church themselves, at times working until two in the morning. In
1908, the parish opened a school with sixty students and two teaching sisters
(Coleman 1992, 251).

Assumption: In 1909, the approximately thirty Catholic families living in the
area between Prospect and Jackson avenues and Independence Avenue and the river
bluffs, requested a church (Map 27). Bishop Hogan established Assumption parish
later that year and priests offered Mass in both a rented frame buildingpandta
home near Garner and Indiana avenues. In 1910, the parish built a frame church at
Lexington Avenue and Benton Boulevard that seated 190 persons (Map 25) (Coleman
1992, 114).

Blessed Sacrament: Bishop Hogan instructeather Francis McCaffrey of
All Saints Parish to found a new parish in the area south of Annunciation and east of
St. James in 1909 (Map 27). Thirty Catholic families lived in the area and first
celebrated Mass in a home at 3845 Wabash. The next year a frame church was built
at Thirty-ninth and Agnes (Map 26) (Coleman 1992, 116-117).

St. Francis Xavier: During the first decade of the twentieth century Jesuit
Father Michael Dowling worked to prepare the groundwork for a Jesuit college in
Kansas City. He wanted a location within the boundaries of a Jesuit-run parish so, in

1909, he petitioned Bishop Hogan for the establishment of St. Francis Xavier on
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Fifty-third Street near Forest Street (Maps 26 and2Dnly twelve Catholic
families lived in the area, but Hogan understood Dowling’s rationale and so approved
the parish. In 1910, the people built a combined church and school that seated 252
people for Mass. Fifty students attended and three sisters taught at the scimabl whe
opened. These sisters lived at St. Aloysius Convent and traveled by streetgar ever
day to Forty-seventh and Troost. From there the sisters rode a horse and buggy up a
steep hill to the school. When their driver missed work, they were forced to climb the
hill, often in mud or rain. Parish archives explain that the lack of public
transportation limited growth in the early years (Coleman 1992, 222-223, diocesan
archives for St. Francis Xavier).

Vigitation of the Blessed Mother: The area south of Our Lady of Good
Counsel Parish was mostly diary and truck farms with a few homes at thef ser
1910s (Map 21). In Bishop Hogan’s 1909 decree establishing Visitation of the
Blessed Mother Parish in this region, he stated the parish was “for the faithful tha
speak the English language.” Father Thomas McDonald offered the firstalas
farm house near Fifty-first and Main for twelve families. Within a few m&rthe
parish built a temporary church on the northeast corner of Fifty-first Eearsdt
Grand. They built a permanent church in 1911 on the southeast corner of Fifty-first
Terrace and Main (Coleman 1992, 290-291).

Westport Area
Our Lady of Good Counsdl: This original Westport parish had grown

considerably by the start of the twentieth century and needed a larger church. The
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cornerstone for one seating six hundred was laid in 1906. This church was completed
the next year, at which time the former church was converted to the parish school

Our Lady of Perpetual Help: Growth in the Westport region also prompted
the Redemptorists to expand. They built a new brick church in 1894 that seated four
hundred parishioners, but by 1906, needed an even larger space. They then
constructed a church thought to be the second largest west of the MississippitRiver.
measured 206 by 120 feet and had room for nine hundred parishioners. At least seven
thousand people attended the groundbreaking ceremony along with Irish, German,
Slovakian (from Kansas City, Kansas) and Italian societies and bands. $Vorker
finished the church in 1912. Sanborn maps from 1895 indicate this parish was still
mostly undeveloped, particularly the northwestern quarter, but by 1909 the monastery
was surrounded by residences. By this time, the western edge of the parish contained

large houses plus a playing field for the Kansas City Athletic Club.

Summary

Map 58 is an attempt to summarize the events and trends discussed in this
chapter. Besides Assumption Parish filling the gap between St. John the Baptist and
Holy Cross, all other additions match the urban march south. Westport was now fully
engulfed by the city. The parishes created after 1906 are about half a mé#ie long
than previous ones along the north-south axis. This is probably because of a growing
ease of transportation, electric streetcars plus the growing predfesnt@mobiles in

the suburbs.
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! Fifty dollars was from Bishop Hogan and one thmdsdollars was from Bernard Corrigan, the
streetcar owner (Coleman 1992, 254). Drexel wasmized in October 2000, becoming the second
recognized American born saint

(http://lwww.vatican.va/news_services/liturgy/sainss lit_ doc_20001001_katharine-drexel_en.html).
% The church was named St. Francis Xavier supposedignor the name of the first church in the
region. This was a mistake, because the firstathuas actually St. John Francis Regis.
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Chapter Five

World War and the 1920s
1913-1930

City History

Spurred by large growth in population and motor travel, the city continued to
change during these years. Automobiles were common by the middle of the 1910s
(Montgomery and Kasper 1999, 171). Population grew from around two hundred
fifty thousand in 1910 to over three hundred twenty thousand by 1920 and then to
almost four hundred thousand by 1930. In those same twenty years the percentage of
foreign-born Kansas Citians declined from ten to six percent and the number of
clerical jobs rose from twelve to sixteen percent. These were in line vidimala
trends (Brown and Dorsett 1978, 183-184). In 1917, a fire in the stockyards in the
West Bottoms killed seventeen thousand cattle and hogs and caused more than one
and a half million dollars in damage. A strike of laundry workers that same year
expanded to a larger protest of twenty-six thousand workers that did not end until
April 1918. In April 1917, the nation declared war on Germany and attention became
focused oversees (Montgomery and Kasper 1999, 180-182). After the war, citizens
donated two million dollars in ten days for a victory monument—the Liberty
Memorial—to be erected at a site just south of Union Station. The groundbreaking,
with Generals Pershing and Foch in attendance, was in November 1921. It was
formally dedicated in 1926 (Montgomery and Kasper 1999, 186, 205).

Spanish influenza hit Kansas City in September 1918, killing two thousand

three hundred people. City officials banned public gatherings of more than twenty
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individuals. The postwar years saw the passage of laws prohibiting alcohol
consumption and restricting the number of immigrants. Coincidently, this time was
the start of the roaring 1920s. Movie houses, bowling alleys, skating rinks, and
amusement parks provided entertainment (Montgomery and Kasper 1999, 176). Jazz
was also becoming popular, along with gambling, both encouraged by Tom
Pendergast’s Democratic political machines (Brown and Dorsett 1978, 188-194).
Citizens began to buy electric refrigerators, washing machines and vacamnarsle

in large numbers. Brewer George Muehlebach, in response to the growing popularity
of baseball, built a stadium at Twenty-second Street and Brooklyn. The increased
affordability of automobiles allowed middle-class residents to move southean ar
which had been limited to wealthier residents. J. C. Nichols continued to develop
subdivisions for these residents. In 1923, the Mill Creek Building, the first building

on Nichols’ Country Club Plaza, the nation’s first suburban shopping district was
finished. The next year, Wolfermans (a grocery store and bakery) and st@t@oe
opened there, followed by parking garages, gas stations and a Piggly-Wiggly
supermarket (Montgomery and Kasper 1999, 194). Construction boomed throughout
the city and included factories, warehouses, public garages, hotels, a hospital, and an
airport (just north of the Missouri River) (Montgomery and Kasper 1999, 207). By

the mid-1920s, Nichols’s Country Club District had become the prominent white

upper-class neighborhood in the city (Brown and Dorsett 1978, 187-188).
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Church History

In 1913, Bishop Hogan died and Thomas Lillis became the new leader of sixty
thousand Catholics in the diocese. Lillis had grown up in Kansas City and served as a
priest there until his appointment as bishop of Leavenworth in 1904. The same year,
the Catholic Directoryrecorded nine male and twenty-four female religious orders
working in the diocese. Rockhurst, the Jesuit college, finally opened in 1914. Two
new national parishes were established, St. Stanislaus for Poles in 1913 andyOur Lad
of Guadalupe for Mexicans in 1914. During World War | twelve hundred Kansas
City Catholics formed a regiment that become thé"29d artillery and served in

France (Doering and Marra 1992, 102-110).

Table 4: Parishes established 1913-1930

Parish Year Comments Location

St. Stanislaus 1913 Polish " 8nd Ewing

Our Lady of Guadalupe 1914 Mexican "28nd Madison

St. Elizabeth 1917 Mixed ¥and Main

St. Louis 1919 Mixed 60and Swope Parkway
St. Augustine 1923 Mixed 79th and Paseo

Between Holmes and
Charlotte on Meyer

St. Peter 1925 Mixed Boulevard

St. Therese the Little

Flower 1925 Mixed 58 and Euclid
Irish

By the 1920s, Irish families were in their third generation and had lost most of
their group identity. The Irish neighborhoods were even smaller and less distinct tha

before (Brown and Dorsett 1978, 186). Parish histories do not detalil if they
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maintained an Irish identity, but for organizational purposes I discuss them under the
Irish heading.

Sacred Heart: Father John Hogan led this once prominent Irish parish in
1925. He wrote to the diocesan chancellor stating the parish was in a state of decline
and unable to pay its assessments (Coleman 1992, 199).

Holy Name: The ambitious plans of 1907 to build a cathedral-sized church
that could seat one thousand worshipers were finally fulfilled in 1928. The struggle
to build such a structure left a large debt of $175,000 on the parish, which was at its
peak at this time but soon began to decline in numbers. The following year a parish
census reported 434 families composed of 1,616 individuals (Coleman 1992, 150-
151).

St. John the Baptist: Italians, mainly from Sicily, continued to move into
this parish. No exact numbers were found for these years but by 1950 ninety percent
of the parishioners were Italian. No other relevant history was recondgdsfo
parish (Coleman 1992, 233-234).

Immaculate Conception: No relevant history was recorded for this parish during

this time.

St. Patrick: No relevant history was recorded for this parish during this time.
German

World War | prompted a movement by most German-Americans to show their
patriotism and become more “American.” The national parishes reduced or

completely ceased Masses in the German language (Doering arad1d8#, 114).
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Animosity because of the war probably sped up the process of assimilatiomshat w
occurring more naturally in the Irish community. By the 1920s, Germans, like the
Irish, had lost much of their ethnic character. Their neighborhoods became smalle
and less distinct (Brown and Dorsett 1978, 186).

Sts. Peter and Paul: Despite the continued decline of the parish, the
remaining Germans of Sts. Peter and Paul, under the guidance of Monsignor
Zechenter generously supported both the Hispanics of Our Lady of Guadalupe and
the African-Americans of St. Monica. In the early 1920s, Sunday Mass attendanc
was fewer than fifty people with many coming from other parishes. Conaherc
development continued to surround the church. Kdmesas City Stareported in
June 1921 that a new federal bank, twenty-one stories in height, was being built
across from the church. In April of the same yearKihiesas City Journaleported
that capitalists had been trying to buy the church property for the lastddrg. In
August, the diocese finally sold the property to commercial developers on the
condition that Zechenter could serve until August of 1922, completing fifty years of
service to the parish. Zechenter celebrated the last High Mass antepré@ac
German to one thousand people in attendance in January 1923. A letter from
Zechenter to the Sacred Congregation of the council, Eminence Donatus Cardinal
Sbarretti, Prefect, Rome, gave four reasons for selling the land: a goed leas
opportunity was present, the diocese approved the sale, the outside appearance of the
church was pitiful, and the church was only four blocks from St. Patrick where three

priests were serving (diocesan archives for Sts. Peter and Paul; Cole98ag713).
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Our Lady of Sorrows. With the onset of World War I, all the Masses at Our
Lady of Sorrows, except the 10:30 A.M. Mass, were converted to English. In 1920, a
parish board appointed “vigilantes,” each assigned to a district within thl,paitis
the mission of monitoring Catholics moving in or out of the area. If a new fanly ha
school-aged children, an effort was made to enroll them in the tuition-friel par
school. The next year parishioners began raising money for a new church (64 by 152
feet) that was completed in 1923 (Coleman 1992, 194).

Guardian Angel: One hundred families of German origin belonged to
Guardian Angel parish in 1914 when Father Peter Rosch became pastor. He soon
converted one Mass from German to English in response to the growing number of
non-German families moving to the area from Sacred Heart and Immaculate
Conception. The growing parish population necessitated the addition of a new
classroom in 1915 and another in 1917. During the World War an elaborate flagpole
was constructed near the church to demonstrate the people’s loyalty. In 1918 Bishop
Lillis assigned boundaries to the parish, converting it from a national panshgser
all Germans on the south side to a territorial parish (Map 34). In 1921, ground was
broken for a new church that was finished in 1924. This same year Bishop Lillis
received a parishioner’s letter indicating a controversy regarding #mgeho a
territorial parish and the new construction. The letter requested thsitclaltify
whether the parish was German or if boundaries existed. The writer was dgparent
upset because he had donated money for the new church but was now being told that

it was for Germans only. From this it may be concluded that many Germans wer
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unhappy regarding the change and were trying to keep non-Germans from
participating in the parish. Perhaps in response to this controversy, Lgh#\sli
modified the boundaries for the parish in 1926. During the 1920s seven hundred
families belonged to the parish (diocesan archives for Sts. Peter and Paul;rColema
1992, 143-144).
African Americans

During the 1910s, 8,000 of the city’s 23,566 blacks lived in the Bowery, an
area bounded by Troost and Woodland, Seventeenth and Twenty-fifth streets
(Montgomery and Kasper 1999, 174). In the 1920s African-Americans began buying
houses in a new middle class neighborhood around Twenty-fourth Street and Paseo,
replacing Germans and Jews who were moving south (Brown and Dorsett 1978, 185).

St. Monica: The blacks of St. Monica finally obtained a church thanks to a
wealthy donor, Dr. Thomas Purcell. He had been caught in a rainstorm and took
refuge in the shack that parishioners were using for Mass. The shacksaiced |
badly and Purcell was soaked by the end of Mass. Here he describes the conditions
he encountered:
The following Sunday when | went down and saw the “plant” | was amazed. He [the
local priest] had two small former Negro cabins side by side, unpainted awrh forl
looking, in the very midst of a section made up of poor Negroes. Everything
suggested poverty. Over the door of each cabin he had a cross made of laths. The
floors of the cabins were wet—there were shingles off the roof and it had eafeed
hours before. A little altar was at one end of the Church out of reach ofrihearai
few chairs constituted the furnishings. The school was the same. He told mhé tha
was raining while the buildings were in use the people gathered around theawalls i
the dry spots. | learned he had not received much encouragements but he laughed it
off and did double duty cheerfully. | asked why the roofs were not repaired and he

said no one was interested in the work and he had no money. | assured him that the
Catholics of KC would not allow the conditions to go on if they knew about them. 1
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found Fr. Cyprian a modest, retiring, bashful man who, as he said was@oing t
devote his life to the work and after he was gone perhaps someone would become
interested. | went to see Bishop Lillis and he assured me thereatezrough

Catholic Negroes in KC to justify building a Church. | felt there was a field

man like Fr. Cyprian, for whom the Bishop expressed great admirationsd gue
pestered the beloved Bishop until finally one evening he said, if you thinkayou ¢
interest enough people in building a church down there, go ahead, but | nsist insi
that when built it must be free of indebtedness as the Diocese does not hawensuffici
funds to assume any indebtedness (quoted in Coleman 1992, 256-257).

Five hundred people witnessed the laying of the cornerstone for this new church in
August 1913. In 1916, Bishop Lillis confirmed sixty-five adult converts into the
Catholic faith at St. Monica (Coleman 1992, 256-257)
Italians

In 1910, ten percent of the foreign population in the city was Italian; in 1930,
9,500 Italians made up more than fifteen percent of the foreign population, surpassing
Germans as the largest group in the city. In the 1920s, Littlesipadad eastward
and wealthy Italians moved south along Benton Boulevard and Swope Parkway
(Brown and Dorsett 1978, 176). Katy Scardino Gimalva described living in the are
in the 1920s and 1930s:
Growing up in those days was hard. Money was scarce. All we earned \ghtbrou
home to our families. Sometimes it was hard for our parents to find good jobs. A
little had to go a long way in big families. Some of us had to quit schoolgo he
support the family. We had family, church, school and friends and relativds/nea
We didn't know how other neighborhoods lived, so we didn't know we were poor.
We had fun, and at least a woman could walk in the streets around here and not worry
about being bothered (quoted in Coleman 1992, 162).

Columbus Day was widely celebrated during these years as the itatianal

holiday.
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Starting in 1913, many lItalians began working at the Kansas City Macaroni
and Importing Company at 556 Campbell Street. In 1917, after gaining a ndgonwi
reputation for excellence, the factory expanded. The company was bought out i
1924 and renamed American Beauty. At this time the factory covered the otk f
Campbell to Charlotte and Independence to Pacific ("American Bdautyigration
Success StoryNortheast WorldOctober 8, 1986, vol. 1 no. 17)

Holy Rosary: Italians of the parish founded the Italian Intersocial Supreme
Council of Kansas City in 1917 to distribute money to poor families. The council
also donated funds to Italy during World War I. ltalians created otbapgiin
response to Protestant efforts to proselytize Italian youths. In 192¢.finert
prominent Italians founded Comitato Coloniale, which raised money for tioelsc
and provided books for families unable to afford them. Father Louis Franchinotti
took over the parish in 1921. One of the challenges he encountered was the
proliferation of pool halls, more than two dozen within walking distance of the
church, contrasted with no permanent multipurpose center for the youth of the parish
(Coleman 1992, 160).

In an August 1922 letter to Apostolic Delegate John Bonzono in Washington
D. C., Bishop Lillis expressed his concern that the dispersal of Itatidhe city
gave them a method to avoid accountability for skipping their Sunday obligation to
attend Mass. Lillis explained Italians were moving eastward dfaependence
Boulevard away from Holy Rosary. When questioned by the pastors of St. John the

Baptist or the other parishes they resided in why they did not attend Mass, the
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claimed to have attended Mass at Holy Rosary. However, Lillis knew Hadians
were not going to Mass regularly at Holy Rosary (diocesan archiveofpr H
Rosary).

L ebanese

Church of Our Lady: The Lebanese moved to their third storefront church
at Ninth and Prospect in 1927 (Coleman 1992, 140).

Poles

When the American Radiator Company moved from Buffalo, New York to
Kansas City in 1910, it brought along many Polish immigrants. Two groupes cam
one in 1910 and one in 1912, and settled near the plant in the Centropolis District
along the Blue River.

St. Stanislaus:  Initially these Poles attended Mass at St. Joseph, a Polish
Parish in Kansas City, Kansas, but the strain of the distance promptetioa peti
Bishop Lillis for a new parish. Lillis approved, and in 1913 appointed Fa#ter P
Raczaszek to head a new national parish called St. Stanislausly ltiieadeventy-
five families and twenty-five single men met for Mass in the paridroh&it.

Stephen. In 1914, they built a church on the northeast corner of Eighteenth and
Ewing (Map 30). Observers commented that the parishioners walking up the steep
hill to the church each Sunday reminded them of people on a holy pilgrimage. These
families maintained traditional Polish ways of celebrating EastdrChristmas. In

1929 three sisters, arriving daily by Yellow Cab, began teaching at the nelw paris

school (Coleman 1992, 275).
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Mexican

Spurred by the Mexican Revolution and growing anti-Catholicism in the new
government, it produced a new group of Mexicans arriving in the early 19Ifisgjoi
others already working on the railroads and in the packing plants. Lé&ber in
decade, a third group came because of wartime industry in the city. Mdrgsef t
lived on the Kansas side of the state line. Within Missouri, some lived in the West
and East Bottoms and in McClure Flats at Nineteenth and McGee. Thsetbigge
concentration, however, was near Twenty-third and Madison on the West Side
(Doering and Marra 1992, 119). By 1914, between six and seven hundred Mexicans
lived in six Kansas City districts (Badillo 1994, 241).

Our Lady of Guadalupe: Fleeing persecution in Mexico, Fathers Jose
Munoz and Arilo Corbato arrived in Kansas City in June 1914. They were extremely
poor and unable to provide for other Mexicans until they got in touch with the
diocese, which provided worship space at Sacred Heart for the twitiaty families
of the parish. Soon, the group acquired its own temporary church at 2331 Holly
Street where it stayed for eighteen months (Map 30). Non-Mexican ebs&rgre
surprised by the piety of these people. This church had no pews because the people
stayed on their knees for the entire Mass in respect for the presence tf Ghitlsn
five months of the acquisition of this building, Mass attendance grew from forty to
more than two hundred people each Sunday, and within a year it was over five
hundred. This sudden growth in attendance is attributable to the acquisitionesf a fix

spot for Spanish Masses. When this occurred, Mexicans previously spread

91



throughout the city began moving to the West Side (Coleman 1992, 178-179).
Because of their poverty, Mexicans had been ashamed of attending Mdmss at ot
parishes, but they were less inhibited with their own, resulting in largalsro
(diocesan archives for Our Lady of Guadalupe). Next, a storeroom at 1120/Twent
fourth Street was rented to celebrate Mass. Mexicans finally hawairces to buy
their own building in 1919, a Swedish Lutheran church at Twenty-third andsbfa
(Map 35)* German Catholics contributed some money to help pay for this church
but most was provided by the Mexicans themselves. In 1916, Father Corbato left to
minister to Mexicans in Osawatomie, Kansas. This left Father Munibz asly
Spanish-speaking priest for the entire city. He baptized more tharhtimde=d
people and witnessed at least fifty marriages each year, wiviéditigaup to sixty
miles for sick calls. In 1926, the parish sponsored its first fiesta ag towaise
funds. This has become a popular annual event.
Mixed

St. Francis Seraph: In 1925, the two hundred-fifty families of this parish,
half of whom were foreign born, opened a new church at Martin and Wyman avenues
(Map 39). During the dedication ceremonies it was noted that Swedish, Hungarian,
Croatian, Austrian, Irish, German, Italian, French, Belgian, Pdii&xican and
Russian families lived in the area (Coleman 1992, 222).

St. Vincent: In 1924, St. Vincent dedicated a new gothic-style church at the

same site as the previous structure. It seated eight hundred plus an addibonal
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hundred in a winter basement chapel. No other relevant history was recordesl for t
parish during this time (Coleman 1992, 297-288).

St. Stephen: In 1913, St. Stephen’s church burnt to the ground, forcing the
people to use the basement for Mass until a new church was completed eight years
latter. During the influenza outbreak in 1918 the city banned large indoor ggtherin
so Mass was offered from the second-story porch of the parish house witofile
gathered below. Starting in 1919, groups of fifty to one hundred parishioners worked
evenings and Saturdays on the new French gothic-style church. Stone nmalsons a
plasterers were hired for tasks the parishioners were unable to periaemén
1992, 277-278).

Holy Trinity: In 1916, the parish purchased property at Tenth and Norton for
a new church, school, and rectory. The next year, the then-current churetd bur
forcing Father James Keegan to offer Mass on the second floor of the schhel for t
next nine years until the new church was built. At this time parishioners lzegan t
drift away, preferring to attend Mass at St. Aloysius of Holy Cr&sllections fell
to only twelve dollars per Sunday (Coleman 1992, 169).

St. Aloysius: No relevant history was recorded for this parish during this
time.

New Annunciation: Four hundred families of Annunciation welcomed the
completion of their church in 1924, which had been delayed since 1902 because of

low membership and intermittent economic depression (Coleman 1992, 111).
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Holy Cross. In 1917, three hundred-fifty families of Holy Cross received
new boundaries, Belmont Avenue on the east and Jackson Avenue on the west, as
well as a new church. In 1923, a school served by seven teaching sisters opened
(Coleman 1992, 146-147).

Holy Family: In 1915, the parish remodeled the church, removing a
dangerous section. In 1927 parish membership was only twenty-five families
(Coleman 1992, 300).

St. James (TheLesser): In 1915, St. James offered tuition-free schooling,
becoming the first free parochial school west of Chicago. Patriotismspasially
strong in the parish. It was the only one to fly an American flag pritbret®nited
States entry into World War I. In 1919, five masses were offered on Sundalys f
four thousand members of the parish (Coleman 1992, 230-231).

St. Michael the Archange: In 1916, a new gothic-style stone church
replaced the parish’s frame building on the southeast corner of Twenty-fourth and
Brighton. In 1926, a new school with six classrooms opened. The same year a major
fire caused fifteen thousand dollars worth of damage to the church (Coleman 1992,
252).

Assumption: No relevant history was recorded for this parish during this
time.

Blessed Sacrament: No relevant history was recorded for this parish during

this time.
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St. Francis Xavier: By 1919, this parish had outgrown its church. A
replacement auditorium-style structure was not finished until 1927, however, two
years after a fire had destroyed the original church. In 1925, the sch®elwanded
to a capacity of more than five hundred students. At this time 630 families,
composed of 3,250 individuals, belonged to the parish (Coleman 1992, 224).

Visitation of the Blessed Mother: A second Sunday Mass was added to
Visitation in 1913. By 1915, sixty families were members and plans began far a ne
permanent church. This new structure, finished in 1917, was inspired by thehSpanis
Santa Barbara Mission in California. The 1959 parish history describes|ties og
of this mission style on the Country Club Plaza:

At this time (the dedication of the new church) the Country Club Plaza had not yet
taken on its Spanish motif which makes it so distinctive today, and it was not until
Visitation Church was completed that the Nichols company saw the passbiii

this design. For several years, while the plaza area was being pldreneoinpany
used photographs of Visitation Church in its advertising folders. LaterNickbls
made a tour of Spain, studying the architecture there, and returned wgéngral
outline of the Plaza business and apartment district already formed imdis m
(quoted in Coleman 1992, 291).

St. Joseph: In 1914, the parish school was closed. Five years later, forty
adults converted to Catholicism and joined St. Joseph.

St. Elizabeth: Forty-one people, from the Waldo district in the southern part
of the city petitioned Bishop Lillis in 1917 for their own parish. At this tithe,area
was undeveloped with few residents and no zoning restrictions. Afterdpjtisoved

the parish, his first, Mass was offered in a rented store building on Seifénty-f

Street (Maps 32 and 33). In 1922 a church seating 460 was finished on the block
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between Main and Baltimore and Seventy-fourth Terrace and Seveht$tiéet
(Map 37) (Coleman 1992, 218).

St. Louis: Father L. Curtis Tiernan, after serving in the Catholic"Pield
Artillery during World War |, was appointed by Bishop Lillis tadtSt. Louis parish
in the Swope Park district in 1919. One hundred eight people attended the first Mass
celebrated in Flacy’s Hall on the southwest corner of Fifty-sixth and Swarge/&y
(Maps 35 and 36). Land had already been purchased on the crest of a hill one block
from a streetcar line. Older members of the parish complained about &acttess
site, however, so the parish bought new land at Fifty-eighth Terrace and Swope
Parkway where a frame stucco church was soon built. The school opened in 1924
with three sisters and one hundred students (Coleman 1992, 244-245).

St. Augustine: By 1923, the Marlborough district on the city’s southern
fringe had started to shift from a farming community to a suburban one andtyhe for
Catholic families expected their own parish. Bishop Lillis purchagedheer
Presbyterian “basement” church at Seventy-ninth and Paseo td&SseAuggustine
(Maps 37 and 38). In 1928, a school opened with four sisters and forty students
(Coleman 1992, 209).

St. Peter: Bishop Lillis established St. Peter Parish for seventy-five famili
in the southeast section of town in 1925 (Map 40). Lillis desired property oarMey
Boulevard and Wornall Road, but property restrictions prevented this land from being
bought. Eventually the parish bought a corn field, with a pre-Civil War farnehous

in an undeveloped region of the parish between Holmes and Charlotte on Meyer
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Boulevard (Map 39). The parishioners constructed a corrugated iron building,
nicknamed the “Tin Cathedral,” on the high ground of this property.

St. Theresethe Little Flower: In 1925, the same year that Therese of
Lisieux was canonized a saint, Bishop Lillis assigned Father MaDldates to a
parish named after her in the southern part of Kansas City (Map 40allyivass
was offered for the seventy families of the parish in the home of Franck&l&vinear
Euclid Avenue and Forty-eighth Terrace (Map 39). For most of 1926 the parish used
the Little Sisters of the Poor Chapel at Fifty-third and Highland. At Tigwikg of
that year the basement of the new school was opened for Mass (Coleman 1992, 281).

Westport Area

Our Lady of Perpetual Help: By 1915, the parish had grown to 344 families
with 360 children in the school. Growing numbers of students required the
construction of a new grade and high school in 1925. The Redemptorists completed a
new monastery with twenty-two sleeping rooms in 1928 (Coleman 1992, 188).

Our Lady of Good Counsel: No relevant history was recorded for this
parish during this time.

Analysis

Catholic Geographic Discrimination?: Map 32 (of churches in 1917) shows an
unusually large, two-mile gap, between Visitation and St. Elizabeth pariine
region skipped was in J. C. Nichols's Country Club District. Most Catholiteof t
time would not have been able to afford homes in this area. Although some real

estate developers in the city refused to sell to Catholics, Nicholseaplyatid not
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discriminate on this basis (Worley 1990, 148, 273). The original neighborhood plans
called for a Presbyterian church between Fifty-ninth and Sixtiethts on Ward
Parkway. This church was never built, but when the Catholic diocese sought to
purchase the land, local property holders took legal action that barred coostaficti

a church until 1999 (Coleman 1992, 284). Added to this confusion was a lack of
defined boundaries for St. Elizabeth, the parish south of these neighborhoods (Map
33). Such lack of definition was unusual. Perhaps Bishop Lillis did so because he
did not want to exclude the small number of Catholics in the skipped region.
Perhaps he hoped in the future that more Catholics would move to the area. Setting
definite boundaries would have fostered the idea that the Country Club Distriat was
region off limits to Catholics.

Boundaries of Our Lady of Guadalupe: Despite being established as a
parish for Mexicans, Our Lady of Guadalupe was also soon given territorial
boundaries (Map 31). Throughout the country in the 1920s the idea of the national
parish was being phased out (Badillo, 241 1994). Perhaps giving Our Lady of
Guadalupe boundaries was Bishop Lillis’s way to join the movement away from
national parishes. As stated earlier, most of the Mexican Catholicsartytimoved
to this parish once it was established, so even though boundaries were gitin, it
remained de facto a Mexican parish.

Decisionson size and location of new parishes: When Bishop Lillis set up
St. Louis Parish in 1919 in the Swope Park district, it covered more than foue squar

miles, a much greater area than any previous parish (Map 36). No recocdseindi
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the reasons for this decision. One possibility is the desire to include aktiheliCs
in the region in a parish and not leave any to an unassigned area. As populati
density would increase over time, the plan may have been to divide this parish into
smaller parishes. Also the greater availability of automobiles alldavger parishes,
although this is an extreme case.

In 1925, Bishop Lillis created two parishes, St. Therese and St. Beter.
Therese was inserted between Blessed Sacrament and St. Lahiegparhile St.
Peter covered an area that was previously skipped (Maps 38 and 40). This indicates
that the central area, immediately south of Brush Creek, was seeimgeased

Catholic presence.
Summary

Map 59 gives an overview of the growth of the city. The continued southward
development is seen along with the insertion of parishes south of Brush Creek. The
lower population density of the new suburbs is also apparent in the size of the
parishes. The map does not show the new Mexican and Polish Catholic immigrants
which increased the diversity of Catholics in the city. Mexicans livingercity
during the 1920s provided a base for future expansion as they became an important

part of the diocese in the second half of the twentieth century.

! The Swedes had moved to a new church in southaéaBily. A letter from Father Munoz indicates
that Mexicans were not accustomed to building desdecause most of the churches in Mexico had
been built centuries earlier by Spanish missiosgi@leman 1992, 178; diocesan archives for Our
Lady of Guadalupe).
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Conclusion

A study of the Catholic Church in Kansas City confirms many detailsrdrese
in existing general histories of the city and adds other insights not preseesén t
accounts. French farmers and fur traders were the first Cathotios area. Then
came a large group of Irish brought by Father Donnelly to work on construction
projects. Soon an influx of Germans in the city challenged the Irishrueye
Settling mainly in the middle-class McGee’s Addition, these Germajuested and
were granted a separate national parish. Early church histonesoafem that
Westport was a truly separate town from Kansas City through much of the 1800s.
The Westport church did not receive much attention and was even closedei@al s
years, indicating both isolation and a lack of Catholics. St. FranciptBeasish in
the East Bottoms was also separate from the main city but, in contrasstpdf, it
did receive church attention. The diversity of Germans, Belgians,;reotes and
Irish in the East Bottoms is not mentioned in general histories. Neithéelsamese
colony established in 1893 or Polish workers arriving in 1910.

The growth and decline of Annunciation Parish confirms details of the change
that occurred in the West Bottoms because of the growth of railroach&fiacilities
and stockyards. Italians immigrated to the city slowly at, fimst then in greater
numbers after 1890, and settled on the north side. The archives indicate that most
came from Sicily and show their spread eastward from their home HolyyRosar

Parish.
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A map showing the establishment of parishes in the 1880s confirms the
eastward growth of the city during that time (Map 56). At the end of the nmtletee
century, however, Germans led a move to the south, as shown by the establishment of
the national parishes Our Lady of Sorrows and Guardian Angel. Stremites and
Catholic church locations would seem to be mutually beneficial, but | found only a
minimal connection between the two phenomena.

Several larger-level trends are also apparent from this study.llyrtiie
Catholic Church contributed to the separation of nationalities, particlistyand
Germans, into distinct neighborhoods with individual churches. Over time society
countered these trends and brought these people into the general culture. This is
reflected in the rationale typically listed in the archives for thebéishment of each
new parish. Thirteen of the first seventeen parishes established (1847-188&hme
ethnicity. Among the last twenty parishes established (1893-1925), only fiveement
ethnicity.

Another trend is the location of initial worship for the various ethnic groups.
Of the national groups that eventually gained their own parishes, all ¢Rkeept
Lebanese began when their numbers were small by using an esthtdrsherial
parish. Later, each built their own church, often through their own labgr Gl
Most of the territorial parishes began in either rented homes or storefrionts.
addition, the pattern of bishops responding to peoples’ requests for new parishes
should be noted. In at least seven cases Bishop Hogan or Bishop Ljiiaded to a

request or petition from a group of people for a new parish. Many times thisiwas a
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ethnic group, but not always. No records survive that indicate either Hogan'’s or
Lillis’s plans for the spread of the diocese, except that individual parishes $igould
one square mile in area. So, in some cases, these petitions may havdiheenitim
their expansion plans. In fact, the petitioned new parishes do not show an unusual
geographic placement, although in a few situations territory was skippedTdwer.
bishops also responded to changes in the city. One example was the closing of
Annunciation Parish in the West Bottoms and another was the relocation of St.
Vincent after the realization that it was too close to the growing downtown.

| did not fully utilize historic newspapers as a resource for details on the
various neighborhoods. The diocesan archives have some clipped articles that deal
directly with parish activities, but more rigorous searches almasitysnould have
added useful information. Another resource not fully used was parish satahme
records. These list baptisms and marriages and could be used to ap@rtxersite
and ethnic composition of individual parishes. A difficulty present, however tis tha
during the time period studied, no cumulative totals exist. Instead, the record books
list only the names that received the sacrament that year. To be usedptis for
each parish would need to be accessed and the numbers tabulated foaeach ye

In addition to the above resources not fully explored, attendance records at
parishes, standardized census of parishes, and consistent school enretiorelst r
would also be useful. These data are not present in Kansas City but do exisiirn cert

other dioceses.
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Future Studies

As the primary church of immigrant peoples in the United States, a study of
Catholic parish records can provide a good grassroots supplement to existing
histories. Consider the following list of geographically related topich and
Catholic histories may be used to develop them:

Population changes: shown by an increase in number of parishes.

Changes in transportation methods and population density: shown by change

in size of parishes.

Where people settled in general and where nationalities settled inspecif
Discovered by mapping parish boundaries and analyzing ethnic
settlements.

Economic depressions: shown by lack of new church construction.

Physical descriptions of sections of town: often included in parish histories.

Since all of these topics are typically discussed in general histitréereligious
records can either confirm or call into question these histories. If suck togppen
not to be covered in existing histories, the religious data become evercritical.

Another aspect of community development that could be analyzed is the
importance of the bishop. The archives for Kansas City unfortunately do not contain
any diocesan planning notes or letters from the bishops detailing their thoughts.
These have to be inferred from the decisions made. Other cities likely havve mor

complete holdings of their bishops’ letters and these men may have useadtiffere
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methods in adapting to immigrants and the spread of their cities. Such cowepara
study could be fascinating.

Analysis could also be done contrasting how other Christian branches,
especially those with a hierarchal and territorial structure, suchissdpalians,
establish churches in a city. A disadvantage with Episcopalians, of cisuiisat, the
immigrant aspect is mostly lost.

Another possible project is a smaller-scale study on just a few pariShiss.
would be similar to Dolan’s work (1975) in New York City but with a geogragher’
insight. Dolan compares a German parish, an Irish parish, and a mixedrGkish
parish, exploring the effects of these churches on their neighborhoods and the
surrounding area.

Focusing back on Kansas City, incorporating churches on the Kansas side of
the state border would be valuable. Several important ethnic settlemenis exist
Kansas City, Kansas, including Mexicans and a variety of eastern Europeans
initially hoped to make these parishes part of my study, but the archivisafor t
archdiocese discouraged me from doing so, indicating that the records were
insufficient and disorganized. If they ever are in a better statedearch, it would
be worthwhile to compare the growth of the two cities.

My study also could be extended into the post-1930 years. Some new
ethnicities enter the scene such as Vietnamese, but the overall etmaictehof the
church decreases greatly. As discussed in the introduction, however, tibeé Uni

States Census Bureau began collecting ethnic data at the tract [£980inThis is a
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more precise tool than parish records to analyze ethnic settlememgsatBven

this, 1 would recommend studies of other cities pre-1930 as opposed to extending
forward this study of Kansas City. Another aspect that is now open to sthay is t
form of the Mass. In July 2007, Pope Benedict XVI issued a motu proprio,
Summorum Pontificumyhich derestricted the traditional Latin Mass, allowing any
priest to celebrate it without permission from his bishop. Some parishes are now
offering this Latin Mass, which opens many interesting new geograpjuestions.
Where are these Masses being requested? How does this choice relate tocgconomi
ethnic, or political status. The techniques presented in this study could Hdeedhtudi

facilitate such an analysis.
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Appendix 1:-Parish and Church Maps Ordered

Chronologically
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1868 Churches
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1868 Parishes
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1872 Churches
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1877 Churches
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1877 Parishes
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1882 Churches
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1882 Parishes
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1886 Churches
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1886 Parishes
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1887 Churches
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1887 Parishes
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1888 Churches
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1888 Parishes
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1889 Churches

St Francis Seraph

L
sungm i P 1 1

n

o
i _ St. Stephen
#Sts ) Pater St. John the Baptist t
;j and Paul INdependencs
E 1 i N
Annunciation’! i St Patrick i £
1 f' Immaculate _ Holy Trinity
Conception . St. Aloysius .
j St Vincent gi
K 1 St. Joseph 15
Holy Name
i
@6

i
& Sacred .
(7 Heart
Our Lady of .

Perpetual HeIpI 5 g § §
2 2
Q o FEM AT GLT
Our Lady of : E
Good Counsel
A3rd
47
\H\_ /\_’\é
S1at §

1 Miles

0 025 05
Map 16: Location of churches in 1889 (Coleman 1992)

122



1889 Parishes
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1890 Churches
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1890 Parishes
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1902 Churches
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1902 Parishes
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1905 Churches
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1905 Parishes
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1906 Churches
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1906 Parishes
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1909 Churches
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1909 Parishes

=

St. Francis Seraph

Haly Cross

T

1
aints j.ll St Pa

Indepe ndg nzp

Holy Trinity

18th

St. Michael

27th

athiArmauy

Visitation

IR

=
z
i
B
=

ape

0 0.2505 1 Miles

I AR
Map 27: Location of parish boundaries in 1909 (Coleman 1992)

133



1910 Churches
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1913 Parishes
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1914 Churches
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1914 Parishes
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1917 Churches
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Map 32: Location of churches in 1917 (Coleman 1992)
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1917 Parishes
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1918 Parishes
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1919 Churches
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1919 Parishes
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1923 Churches
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Map 37: Location of churches in 1923 (Coleman 1992)
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1923 Parishes
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Map 38: Location of parish boundaries in 1923 (Coleman 1992)
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1925 Churches
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Map 39 Location of churches in 1925 (Coleman 1992)
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1925 Parishes
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Map 40: Location of parish boundaries in 1925 (Coleman 1992)
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Appendix 2: Other Maps
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Kansas City Region
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Map 42: Map of region showing general features.
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Map 43: Map of region showing terrain features, the main Chouteau trading post and
the first church property (Original forty acres in blue, ten acres not sold im)gree
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Map 44. A sketch of the French farmers along the Missouri River created by Fr

Point in 1840. The Missouri River is on the right edge, Turkey Creek flows into the
Missouri along the top edge. The church is numbered one at the center of the sketch,
and the Chouteau post is numbered fourteen at the bb@oleman 1992, xxi)

! Fr. Donnelly comments on the reliability of thieetch: “I have never found any traces of [Fr.
Point’s] mission services here, and for his civigimeering and map drawing, his imagination and not
the scene before him, nor his training in thatrsmée supplied the sketch” (Dalton 1986, 103).
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Map 45: Maps indicating the routes of the overland trails, as well as the location of
Westport, the Chouteau landing and the Town of Kansas (Montgomery and Kasper

1999, 32-33).
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Map 46: The industries of West Bottoms in the mid 1880s (Montgomery and Kasper
and 1999, 108).
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Map 47: Drinking establishments in 1878 (Montgomery and Kasper 1999, 92).
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Neigborhoods and Sections
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Map 48 (Brown and Dorsett 1978, O'Neill 2000)
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Streetcars-1885
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Map 49: Streetcars color-coded based on year line built (Dodd 2002)
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Irish Neighborhoods and Parade Route
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Map 50: Irish neighborhoods with year first mentioned in records, also route of St.
Patrick’s Day parade in 1885 (Brown and Dorsett 1978, Doering and Marra 1992,

Coleman 1992, and O'Neill 2000)
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Year Parish Established
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Map 51: Showing what year each parish was established based on 1885 boundaries
(Coleman 1992)
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New Irish Neighborhoods
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Map 52: Irish neighborhoods

established 1886-1892
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Map 53:Location of Italian neighborhood and locations used for Mass (Coleman

1992, Bongino 1991)

160



Streetcars-1892
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Map 54: Streetcar lines in 1892 and churches with year built (Dodd 2002, Coleman
1992)
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St. Vincent Gap
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Map 55: Gap created by relocation of St. Vincent in 1890 (Coleman 1992)
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Year Parish Established
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Map 56: Showing what year each parish was established based on 1890 boundaries
(Coleman 1992)
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Map 57: Location of Lebanese stores where Mass was celebratech@@dl©92)
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Map 58: Year parish established using 1912 boundaries (Coleman 1992)
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Map 59: Year parish established using 1925 boundaries (Coleman 1992)
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National Parishes
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Map 60: Location national parishes in 1920 (Coleman 1992)
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